

finalreport

Project code:	B.NBP.0397
Prepared by:	R. A. Hunter

Date published: September 2009 ISBN: 9781741913415

PUBLISHED BY Meat & Livestock Australia Limited Locked Bag 991 NORTH SYDNEY NSW 2059

Hormonal Growth Promotant (HGP) use in the Australian Beef Industry

Meat & Livestock Australia acknowledges the matching funds provided by the Australian Government to support the research and development detailed in this publication.

This publication is published by Meat & Livestock Australia Limited ABN 39 081 678 364 (MLA). Care is taken to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this publication. However MLA cannot accept responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information or opinion contained in the publication. You should make your own enquiries before making decisions concerning your interests. Reproduction in whole or in part of this publication is prohibited without prior written consent of MLA.

Abstract

This review compiles and interprets scientific studies relevant to the use of hormonal growth promotants (HGPs) by Australian beef producers. It details the chemical formulations of the range of products registered for use in Australia and their modes of action in promoting growth. Particular attention is devoted to the magnitudes and durations of the growth responses under pastoral and feedlot conditions in Australia. The effects of single and repeated implantation on body composition and beef eating quality are described. The scientific principles that underpin implantation strategies designed to prepare cattle for target market specifications are discussed. Concluding sections deal with the effects of HGP treatment on the fertility of breeding females and on bulls, as well as the side-effects and animal behaviour.

Contents

Introduction	4
Formulations of products registered for use in Australia	6
Functional life of different implant formulations	9
Duration of anabolic activity	11
Mechanism of action	12
Growth response	13
Treatment during periods of liveweight loss	17
Genetic selection for growth and response to HGP treatment	17
Effects on feed intake and efficiency of feed conversion	18
Effects on carcass composition	19
Treatment of early and late maturing cattle	20
Effects on Meat Eating Quality	21
Effects on fertility of breeding females	25
Implant strategies and implant programs for sustained growth promotion systems	26
Effects on bulls husbanded for meat production	28
Behaviour and side effects	29
Summary and conclusions	30
Acknowledgements	32
Statement of Interest	32

Introduction

Hormonal growth promotants (HGPs) have been used in the Australian beef industry for the last 30 years. There is sufficient scientific evidence to establish that growth rate is increased by 10-30%, feed conversion efficiency by 5-15% and carcass leanness by 5-8% ⁽¹⁾. Their use in Australia has been steadily increasing over the last decade. Six and a half million doses were sold in the year ending March 2007; up from 5.8 million in the corresponding period to March 2006 ⁽²⁾. This 12 % increase in sales wa1s against a decrease in the Australian herd size of 1.2 % in the corresponding period.

Meat and Livestock Australia (MLA) statistics recorded that in the 2007-08 year Australia produced 2.15 million tonnes of beef (carcass) from its 28.04 million head of cattle. The slaughter numbers for 2007 were 8.05 million head. A reasonable estimate is that about 50% of implanted cattle receive two implants during their grow-out and finishing ⁽³⁾. This equates to, on average, 1.5 implants during the life of HGP treated cattle. Assuming that implantation occurs in each of the final two years before slaughter, it can be calculated that 4.1 million of the 8.05 million cattle slaughtered were implanted. Further, if it is assumed that growth rate and carcass weight of the implanted cattle are increased by an average of 15 %, it follows that 0.16 million tonnes of the national beef production, or 7-8 %, was attributable to use of HGPs. On these figures, the national herd would have to increase to 30.28 million to produce the same tonnage of HGP free beef. Such a national herd population is not unprecedented as MLA statistics record that it was over 30 million in the mid 1970s, peaking at 33.4 million in 1976.

An economic evaluation of HGP use in Australia, conducted in conjunction with this scientific review, estimated that HGP usage contributed an additional \$210 million to the Australian beef industry in 2006-07 ⁽⁴⁾. The \$80 million additional value to the feedlot sector was principally associated with lower feed costs per unit of liveweight gain. In some cases, the boost in growth rates from HGP use allowed cattle to meet the liveweight and age specifications for higher priced markets. The \$130 million of additional value to the grass-fed sector resulted principally from earlier turnoff and the associated increase in numbers of cattle marketed.

HGPs are used extensively in feedlots and in the grass-fed industry of northern Australia. It is estimated that at least 80 % of cattle are implanted at feedlot induction ⁽⁵⁾. In the northern Australian grass-fed industry, HGPs are used as a management tool in preparing steers for higher value markets. The highly seasonal nature of pasture quality in this region means that cattle often must meet market specifications for age and weight before pasture senesces, causing a rapid decrease in the rate of liveweight gain. This is illustrated diagrammatically in Figure 1. The additional liveweight gain from an HGP program can mean the difference between steers meeting the specifications for a higher value market or being consigned to lower value markets such as the USA grinding beef trade.

The annual audits of HGP sales by Animal Health Alliances Australia show that since the European Union (EU) ban on HGPs in 1988, the usage in southern Australia has decreased markedly. Although the export quota to the EU is small, currently 7,150 tonnes of beef per year, producers do not wish to limit their market access options. In addition, the nutritional environment is usually not as severe, or as fluctuating, as in northern Australia. Cattle can generally meet the age and weight specifications for premium markets without the added growth boost from a HGP. The Tasmanian Government has legislated that HGPs not be used in the Tasmanian beef industry, presumably to create a niche market for Tasmanian beef.



Figure 1¹. Seasonal growth curves for various annual liveweight gains (100 ($^{\circ}$), 120 ($^{\circ}$) 135 ($_{\Box}$), 150 ($^{\bullet}$), 180 ($^{\Delta}$) and 220 ($^{\bullet}$) kg/year) for grazing cattle in northern Australia in relation to live cattle and meatworks market specifications. (*Figure supplied by Dr Greg Bortolussi and reproduced with permission of Dr Bortolussi and Dr Chris Anderson, Managing Editor, Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture.*)

The Australian beef industry is increasing in complexity and sophistication. There is a bewildering number of pure breeds, stable crossbreeds, composites and rotational breeding programs, all producing slaughter generation off-spring with different rates of maturity and different carcass compositions at any given weight. In addition to the domestic market which takes about 33 % of total production, there are numerous export markets with different requirements for carcass composition. Some demand leanness, some require fatness, while others expect fat in one anatomical region of the carcass and preferably not in others. Similarly the types of HGP implants are complex. All promote liveweight gain, but the effect on partitioning of nutrients between carcass protein and fat varies. Some implant formulations have a longer functional life than others and some individual hormones may have a greater influence on meat eating quality than others. To meet consistently the specifications for a target market, producers need to manage the genetic and non-genetic factors that influence product quantity and quality. HGPs are commonly used as a component of the management package. Sometimes their use may not be beneficial. This is likely to occur in production systems in which late maturing genotypes are used to produce beef for markets which require a substantial degree of fatness at light carcass weights. Other markets discount HGP treated beef on the grounds of reduced eating guality. In both cases, payment for the additional carcass weight might not compensate for the reduced price per kilogram of beef.

The focus of this review is use of HGPs under Australian conditions, particularly in the northern grass-fed industry and in feedlots where they are used extensively. Citing Australian scientific reports and Australian data has been a priority. Some of these data have not been through a scientific peer review process, which does not imply that the conclusions are not correct, but does mean that the conclusions may not be viewed with the same degree of confidence as those subject to peer review prior to publication. The form of citation in the bibliography gives an indication of scientific status of the reference information. International scientific literature has been used to

¹ Bortolussi G, McIvor JG, Hodgkinson JJ, Coffey SG, Holmes CR (2005). The northern Australian beef industry, a snapshot. 3. Annual liveweight gains from pasture based systems. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*. **45**, 1093-1108.

describe the more theoretical aspects of HGP use as this information is not generally available in the scientific literature generated by Australian scientists.

Formulations of products registered for use in Australia

Chemical compounds used in HGP implants in Australia are:

- oestrogen (oestradiol 17-β, oestradiol benzoate).
- zeranol, a non-steroidal compound isolated originally from fungus infected maize, belonging to a class of compounds known as β-resorcylic lactones.
- progesterone.
- testosterone (testosterone propionate).
- trenbolone acetate (a synthetic androgen).

Oestrogenic compounds (of which zeranol is classed as one) are the major class of growth promoting hormones and, with one exception, are a component of all implants registered for use in Australia. The exception contains only trenbolone acetate and is intended for use in animals where there is endogenous oestrogen production or in animals which have been already implanted with an oestrogen. Oestrogenic activity is an apparent requirement for growth promotion as other oestrogen-like compounds, without oestrogenic activity, do not promote growth ^(6,7,8).

Progesterone is included in one class of implant in combination with oestradiol benzoate. There is no clear evidence that progesterone promotes growth. However it does reduce oestrogen induced teat growth in cattle ⁽⁹⁾ and may be included for this reason.

The growth promoting effect of the androgens (testosterone and trenbolone acetate) in the absence of a companion oestrogen are not as reliable as that of oestrogens. At dose rates in the physiological range that can be delivered by implants, testosterone propionate does not promote growth at growth rates under about 0.8 kg/d $^{(10,11,12)}$. Likewise trenbolone acetate was found not to promote growth of steers at pasture, gaining less than 0.8 kg/d $^{(13)}$. At growth rates greater than 1.0 kg/d, steers treated with testosterone propionate $^{(11,12)}$ do grow faster than untreated steers.

Trenbolone acetate is a synthetic androgen with 3-5 times the androgenic activity and 8-10 times the anabolic activity of testosterone ⁽¹⁴⁾. It promotes growth alone at high growth rates ⁽¹⁵⁾ and in combination with an oestrogen at all growth rates.

The formulations of products currently used in Australia are listed in Table 1. Also listed are the types of cattle for which the products are registered, the types of binding matrix of the compressed pellet implants together with the withholding periods. Frequently similar formulations of hormones are marketed under different product names.

There are essentially two delivery systems for the hormones. All products except Compudose 100, 200 and 400 in which oestradiol-17 β is impregnated into the silicone rubber (Figure 2) are compressed pellet implants. They are made like pharmaceutical tablets by compressing the active ingredients with a carrier matrix which is usually based on lactose, cholesterol or polyethylene glycol (PEG). The carrier is about 15 % of the compressed pellet implant by weight and the dose rate of the hormones is controlled by the number of pellets in the implant. For example, Revalor G (60 mg trenbolone acetate plus 12 mg oestradiol-17 β) has 3 pellets and Revalor S (140 mg trenbolone acetate plus 28 mg oestradiol-17 β) has 7.

Table 1. Formula	ation of hormonal growth	promotants regi	istered for use in Australia
------------------	--------------------------	-----------------	------------------------------

Product name	Hormone formulation (per implant)	Implant Type	Carrier Matrix	Label statement for use	Withholding period for beef production
Compudose 100	21.1 mg oestradiol-17 β	Silicone rubber	Silicone rubber	Increased weight gain in pastoral steers including suckling steers and in spayed heifers and vealer calves. Improved feed efficiency and increased weight gain in lot-fed steers and spayed heifers	Nil
Compudose 200	25.7 mg oestradiol-17 β	Silicone rubber	Silicone rubber	Increased weight gain in pastoral steers including suckling steers and in spayed heifers and vealer calves. Improved feed efficiency and increased weight gain in lot-fed steers and spayed heifers	Nil
Compudose 400	43.9 mg oestradiol-17 β	Silicone rubber	Silicone rubber	Increased weight gain in pastoral steers including suckling steers and in spayed heifers and vealer calves. Improved feed efficiency and increased weight gain in lot-fed steers and spayed heifers	Nil
Compudose G	60 mg trenbolone acetate 12 mg oestradiol-17β	Compressed pellet	Cholesterol	Improved growth promotion in pasture fed steers and heifers	Nil
Compudose G with tylan	 60 mg trenbolone acetate 12 mg oestradiol-17β 29 mg tylosin tartrate 	Compressed pellet	Cholesterol	Improved growth promotion in pasture fed steers and heifers	Nil
Progro H	200 mg testosterone propionate 20 mg oestradiol benzoate	Compressed pellet	Lactose	Improved weight gain in heifers	Nil
Progro S	20 mg oestradiol benzoate 200 mg progesterone	Compressed pellet	Lactose	Improved weight gain in steers	Nil
Progro TE-H	200 mg trenbolone acetate 20 mg oestradiol-17β	Compressed pellet	Lactose	Improved growth promotion and finishing of heifers	Nil
Progro TE-S	140 mg trenbolone acetate 28 mg oestradiol-17β	Compressed pellet	Lactose	Increased weight gain and improved feed efficiency in steers	Nil
Progro T-S	140mg trenbolone acetate	Compressed pellet	Lactose	Increased weight gain and feed efficiency in steers	Nil

Table 1 continued. Formulation of hormonal growth promotants registered for use in Australia

Product name	Hormone formulation (per implant)	Implant Type	Carrier Matrix	Label statement for use	Withholding period for beef production
Ralgro	36 mg zeranol	Compressed pellet	Lactose/boric acid	Increased rate of growth and improved efficiency of feed utilization in steer cattle	Nil
Revalor G	60 mg trenbolone acetate 12 mg oestradiol-17β	Compressed pellet	Cholesterol	Improved growth promotion in grass fed heifers and steers	Nil
Revalor H	200 mg trenbolone acetate 20 mg oestradiol-17β	Compressed pellet	Cholesterol	Improved growth promotion and finishing of heifers and steers	Nil
Revalor I	80 mg trenbolone acetate 16 mg oestradiol-17β	Compressed pellet	Cholesterol	Improved growth promotion in non-breeding cattle	Nil
Revalor S	140 mg trenboloneacetate28 mg oestradiol-17β	Compressed pellet	Cholesterol	Improved growth promotion and finishing of steers	Nil
Synovex C	10 mg oestradiol benzoate 100 mg progesterone	Compressed pellet	polyethylene glycol	Improved weight gain in and heifer and steer calves	Nil
Synovex H	200 mg testosterone propionate 20 mg oestradiol benzoate	Compressed pellet	polyethylene glycol	Improved weight gain of heifers	Nil
Synovex S	20 mg oestradiol benzoate 200 mg progesterone	Compressed pellet	polyethylene glycol	Improved weight gain of steers	Nil
Synovex with trenbolone acetate	200 mg trenbolone acetate 28 mg oestradiol benzoate	Compressed pellet	polyethylene glycol	Improved weight gain and feed conversion efficiency in steers and heifers in confinement for slaughter under feedlot conditions	Nil



Figure 2. Diagrammatic representation of the architecture of two Compudose products with different functional lives.

The carrier matrices for the compressed pellet implants, listed in Table 1, are not authoritative and need to be interpreted with caution. The precise formulation of implants is 'commercial-in-confidence' to the manufacturing companies. Advice from the Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority (APVMA) is that the carrier matrices are not in the public domain. The data used in Table 1 were sourced mostly from information available on the internet ⁽¹⁶⁾ and from verbal information from one company.

It is a regulatory requirement that approved guidelines for use of the products be prominent on the label. Recommendations – like use only one implant per animal, do not use in animals under 6 weeks or 3 months or 6 months of age (depending on the product), do not reimplant sooner than 70 days after the last implant, are common. Notwithstanding these precautions and the fact that previous treatment of an animal with a HGP should be noted on the National Vendor Declaration at time of sale of the animal, there is little to prevent off-label use. The consequences of administering multiple implants to calves and older animals have been examined ⁽¹⁷⁾. Treatment with up to 10 times the normal dosages of testosterone propionate and zeranol did reveal problems with infringement of the threshold values in edible tissues for human consumption. Off-label application of trenbolone acetate and oestradiol benzoate at three times dosage led to higher than threshold concentrations of hormone residues in livers of some animals while concentrations in muscle, kidney and peri-renal fat of all animals were not excessive. This experiment measured the accumulation of residues in tissues 56 days after treatment, presumably to test hormone residue concentrations at their near maximum values. While these data suggest a low risk of untoward consequences from double implantation, the practice should not be condoned.

Functional life of different implant formulations

For the purposes of this paper, the functional life of an implant is defined as the period of time for which the implant releases hormone. The duration of the anabolic response during which growth promotion occurs is a separate issue which will be considered later.

There is general agreement that the functional life of compressed pellet HGP implants is in the vicinity of 60-120 days ^(18,19,20,21). The wide variation is probably the result of the different methods by which functional life is measured. Some studies measured the disappearance of hormones gravimetrically after the removal of the implant while others measured the concentrations of hormones in blood. The label of most compressed pellet implants carries the recommendation that animals should not be reimplanted within 70 days of the first implant which implies a functional life of about that length of time.

Blood serum or plasma hormone concentrations of implanted animals are characterised by a high initial peak in the first 1-3 days followed by a depletion curve that is generally similar to first order kinetics ⁽²²⁾. This is shown diagrammatically in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Theoretical release rates for compressed pellet and silicone rubber implant.

It is likely that there should exist a theoretical serum or plasma concentration of hormone below which growth promotion will not occur ^(1,22). As yet, serum or plasma concentrations have not been established for any of the hormones and it may be that these thresholds are different for different classes of animal and different rates of gain. For example, a pay-out of 55 ug/d of oestradiol was suggested to maximise the growth rate of steers growing at 1.0 kg/d ⁽²³⁾ but an oestradiol pay-out of 174 ug/d was optimal for steers growing at the faster rate of 1.3 kg/d ⁽²⁴⁾. In calves a release rate of only about 30 ug/d provided maximum growth rates ⁽²⁵⁾.</sup>

The nature of the carrier and mixture of hormones in compressed pellet implants affect the release rate of hormones from the implant. Hormone release occurs through disintegration of the pellet and/or dissolution of the carrier matrix and exposure of the hormone to body fluids. Initially lactose was used as a carrier in compressed pellet implants because it is harmless to tissues and yields hard pellets ⁽²⁶⁾. However its high solubility led to rapid release of hormone from the pellet and a shorter functional life. Because it has a lower solubility than lactose, cholesterol is used to slow the rate of hormone release.

Mixing oestradiol with testosterone, trenbolone acetate or progesterone in compressed pellet implants results in a slower and more sustained release of the oestradiol than from pellets

containing only oestradiol ⁽²⁷⁾. Plasma concentrations of oestradiol were elevated for 91 days from a combination implant of oestradiol and trenbolone acetate and only 28 days ⁽¹⁸⁾ from a pellet containing only oestradiol. As all cholesterol based compressed pellet implants used in Australia contain a mixture of hormones, it follows that the functional life is towards the longer duration for this class of implant.

The formulation of silicone rubber HGP implants results in a pay-out of hormone that is at a slower rate and over a much longer period than compressed implants (see Figure 3). This type of delivery system is used in Compudose 100, 200 and 400 in which the only growth-promoting hormone is oestradiol-17 β . The oestradiol is impregnated into the silicone rubber which serves as a reservoir for the oestradiol. The oestradiol then diffuses through the silicone rubber to the surface of the implant from where it is absorbed into the animal. The amount of oestradiol delivered each day is dependant on the surface area of the implant ⁽²⁵⁾. The functional life of the implant is determined by the thickness of the silicone rubber and hence the size of the reservoir for the oestradiol, provided all else remains constant. The dimensions of two silicone rubber implants with different hormone pay-out periods are shown in Figure 2. The implants have an initial burst of oestradiol over the first 28 days followed by a first order kinetic pay-out curve. The near linear portion of the curve indicates a pay-out of 50-60 ug/d, decreasing only very slowly with time ⁽²⁵⁾. This type of delivery system means that silicone rubber implants have a much longer functional life than compressed pellet implants. Serum oestradiol concentrations remained substantially elevated 378 days after administration of a 400 day silicone rubber implant, though the difference in concentrations between the implanted steers and the unimplanted controls was decreasing over time ⁽²⁸⁾.

Duration of anabolic activity

There is general consensus in the scientific literature that compressed pellet implants do not stimulate anabolic activity beyond about day 140 after implantation ^(1,29). There is evidence from a study which used increased nitrogen retention as an indicator of anabolic activity that pellets with a lactose carrier containing both oestradiol-17 β and trenbolone acetate had a period of anabolic activity as short as 35 days. In contrast, pellets of the same formulation with cholesterol as the carrier had periods of anabolic activity from 80 to 105 days ⁽²⁶⁾. Implants containing trenbolone acetate give large growth responses, in the order of 30-60 %, during the first 28-35 days after implantation. The response then diminishes over a 120 day period to give a final overall response of 15 to 20 % ⁽¹⁾. On the other hand, oestrogen based implants do not seem to promote such an initial burst of anabolic activity, the growth response being only 5-10 % over the first weeks ⁽¹⁾. These potencies have all been determined in the USA with cattle on high-energy feedlot diets.

In Australia with cattle at pasture, the situation is somewhat clouded with respect to the period of anabolic activity, at least for implants containing trenbolone acetate. The label for Revalor G (60 mg trenbolone acetate, 12 mg oestradiol-17 β) says that "improved weight gain can be expected 90-100 days post implantation in good guality healthy stock on good nutrition. The increased growth in this period should be maintained when measured at 400 days". This implies an anabolic period of about 100 days and maintenance of the additional weight gain thereafter. Evidence to support this claim was presented to the APVMA by the company seeking registration. However the maintenance of an initial 100 day liveweight advantage is not universal. In an experiment with weaner steers implanted with 40 mg trenbolone acetate and 8 mg oestradiol-17β, the significant liveweight advantage at day 100 was eroded over the next 150 days so that by day 400 the liveweights of both treatment and non-treatment groups were similar ⁽³⁰⁾. It should be noted that the dose rates of the hormones used in weapers in this experiment were only two-thirds of that contained in the currently registered commercial products for pasture-fed cattle. These were the hormone doses recommended by the manufacturer of the implants as being suitable for steers of initial liveweight of about 200 kg. The experiment was conducted prior to the 60 mg trenbolone acetate and 12 mg oestradiol-17ß product being registered for use in Australia. It was the same formulation as the 140 mg trenbolone acetate and 28 mg oestradiol-17 β product in use at that time. The lower dose was achieved by implanting fewer pellets.

The sustained release of oestradiol from the type of silicone rubber implants currently used ensures a long period of anabolic activity. There is general recognition that silicone rubber implants promote anabolic activity for almost all of the period of 100, 200 or 400 days shown on the label of the product ^(16,28,29). Further, there does not appear to be an appreciable attenuation of the anabolic response over time. In an experiment in which steers in continual positive energy balance were weighed regularly over 420 days, the growth rate response of steers implanted with the 400 day product was the same for the first and final 200 day periods ⁽²⁸⁾.

Mechanism of action

There are different hormones with different roles in the metabolic functions of growth and reproduction used in HGPs. This section reviews their individual actions in growth promotion.

The biochemical and physiological means by which anabolic steroids promote growth in ruminants has been studied extensively over the last twenty-five years, yet there is still not a definitive mechanism, or mechanisms, which explain all the scientific observations. Some uncertainty possibly arises because some experiments studied the mechanism of action of implants that contain both an oestrogen and an androgen, while others considered the actions of oestrogens and androgens separately.

A number of hormones are involved in the regulation of normal growth. These include growth hormone, thyroid hormones, insulin, insulin like growth factor (IGF-1) as well as oestradiol and testosterone. Cattle have low endogenous oestrogen production compared to some other mammals and they respond well to supplementary oestrogen by increasing growth rate ⁽⁹⁾. The magnitude of the growth response increases with increasing dose rate up to a threshold ⁽²⁵⁾ implying an initial deficiency of endogenous oestrogen for maximum growth rate. Likewise, androgens in cattle are less active than in some other mammals; they have correspondingly lower androgen receptor concentrations in muscle and there is also a growth response to supplementary androgens ⁽⁹⁾. The growth response to both oestrogens and androgens is mediated via intracellular receptors, directly in muscle as well as indirectly by increasing the circulating amounts of other growth promoting hormones ⁽⁹⁾.

The early explanation for the growth promoting effects of implanted oestrogens was a stimulation of activity of the pituitary gland resulting in additional growth hormone secretion. It is now known to be more complex because the growth promoting effects of exogenous oestrogen and growth hormone are additive ⁽¹⁾ which suggests that oestrogens promote growth by means other than a simple increase in growth hormone secretion. The indirect actions of implanted oestrogens extend to increasing the concentrations of growth hormone receptors in liver and increasing IGF-1 concentrations in blood ^(31,32). Increased IGF-1 concentrations have been linked to stimulation of muscle satellite cell proliferation and increased muscle growth ^(33,34). It has been established that satellite cells are active in post-natal muscle growth by providing nuclei to the growing fibre in both pigs and cattle (35,36,37,38). However as the animal matures, the total number of satellite cells decreases and a proportion of those that remain are quiescent ^(39,40). The implication is that as an animal advances towards maturity, the declining activity of satellite cells and the decreasing muscle growth are linked. Reactivation of satellite cell activity by treatment with exogenous hormones might facilitate increased muscle growth. Implanted oestrogens are now thought to have a direct as well as an indirect action on the muscle cell ⁽⁹⁾. Oestrogen receptors are present in cattle muscle though their concentration is many-fold less than in the uterus. Their physiochemical and biochemical characteristics match those of the uterine receptor ⁽⁴¹⁾. Along with androgen receptors, they occur in numerous muscles of the body in a concentration in accord with the allometric growth of the muscle, providing evidence for the postulation of a direct action of oestrogens on muscle growth ⁽⁴²⁾.

Trenbolone acetate is the androgen most commonly used in implants and it appears that its main action is directly on the cell. Trenbolone shows strong binding to the androgen receptor, the progestin receptor and the glucocorticoid receptor ⁽⁴³⁾. Its growth promoting potency is based on

both anabolic activity as an androgen and anti-catabolic activity as an anti-glucocorticoid. Trenbolone acetate has been shown to increase the rate of protein deposition through a small reduction in the rate of protein synthesis in muscle and a much larger decrease in the rate of protein catabolism ^(44,45). In contrast, testosterone stimulates both protein synthesis and protein degradation ⁽⁴⁶⁾. It also, like the oestrogens but unlike trenbolene acetate, increases the circulating concentrations of growth hormone and IGF-1 ⁽⁴⁷⁾, so probably has an indirect as well as a direct effect on growth promotion.

In cattle on a high plane of nutrition, the initial growth response to a commercial HGP implant containing both an oestrogen and trenbolone acetate is superior to that of an implant containing just an oestrogen. This is presumably the additive effect from two hormones with differences in the way they promote growth.

Growth response

The growth response (10-30%) to implanting cattle with HGPs is immediate and on a whole mob basis reasonably predictable. This is demonstrated in Figure 4 where a large number of experiments with grass-fed cattle and a number of commercial products are summarised. Each point on the graphs represents one experiment. The experiments were in northern and southern Australia and with both Bos indicus and Bos taurus cattle and their crosses. The results of many of the experiments are not in the public domain; the data having been made available on a confidential basis by the relevant companies. Most of the experiments were conducted on commercial properties under industry conditions. The liveweight gain data used to generate the figure were that during the functional life of the implant or the period of anabolic activity (see definition above). Only data from cattle treated for the first time with a single implant were used. The line on the figures shows the neutral situation when liveweight gain of the implanted animals equalled that of those not implanted. Also shown is a regression equation describing the relationship between the liveweight gains of implanted and non-implanted cattle. Though it needs to be viewed with substantial caution, it is included to demonstrate the predictability of the response through the very high r squared value and in some cases the "on average" magnitude of the arowth response.

The caution in interpretation of the regression equations is because the data used were that of the means of treatment groups, not the individuals within the groups. Thus not all the variation between individual responses within the groups is accounted for. Notwithstanding this, the sheer number of cattle and experiments involved (68 for Compudose 200) does allow some conclusions to be drawn.

Figure 4 demonstrates that in almost all cases there was a positive growth response to implantation. The regression equations show that for the relatively short duration implants, Ralgro and Compudose 200, the additional liveweight gain of cattle on pasture was about 0.1 kg/d. The additional weight gain of about 0.1 kg/d is also what has been recorded in published scientific studies that were not used in the generation of the figures. It would be inappropriate to use data included in the generation of the relationships for comparison later. Therefore data from a number of peer reviewed publications were not included so valid comparisons could be made. In central Queensland with various breeds and breed crosses and at base liveweight gains between 0.3 and 0.6 kg/d, additional liveweight gains to treatment with Ralgro and Compudose varied between 0.10 and 0.19 kg/d, with all but one in the range of 0.10 to 0.14 kg/d ^(48,49).

The situation with the longer acting Compudose 400 is more complex (Figure 4(b)). The mean (\pm SEM) duration of the experiments reported was 364 \pm 14.3 days so the vast majority of experiments were reliable tests of anabolic response over an extended period of about a year's duration. As all the experiments were in northern Australia, a wet season with moderate weight gains and a dry season with low weight gains, weight stasis or even weight loss would have been involved. The regression equation in Figure 4 (b) predicts a liveweight gain advantage to implantation of 0.06 kg/d at a base growth rate of 0.3 kg/d and an advantage of 0.09 kg/d at a base



of 0.6 kg/d. This is in general agreement with the overall average of the 40 experiments which was 0.07 kg/d. This translates to an additional 28 kg over the 400 day life of the implant.

Figure 4². The liveweight response in individual experiments with pasture-fed cattle implanted with (a) Compudose 200, (b) Compudose 400, (c) Ralgro, (d) Revalor. The straight line shows the situation of equality of liveweight gain between implanted and non-implanted cattle.

Again the liveweight average advantage in these experiments is similar to that reported in published experiments not included in the generation of the figure. In three experiments in Queensland, the liveweight advantage to steers implanted with Compudose 400 for at least 400 days was 0.05 to 0.06 kg/d^(28,30,50). However it should be noted that quite a different result was

² The data used in the generation of figure 4 were results from Australian experiments organised by or conducted by Elanco Animal Health and Virbac Animal Health or their associate companies. These results are not published in the scientific literature, but were kindly made available for this review. Other data were from:-

Hodge PB, Plasto AW, Round PJ, Smith PC, Aubrey JN, Mulder JC (1986). Effects of two growth promotants on liveweight gains in grain and grass-finished zebu crossbred steers

Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production, 16, 235.

Hunter RA (2000). Sustained growth promotion of pasture fed steers. MLA. Final Report, CS231.

Knights PT, Venamore PC (1985). Growth promotant review in Central Queensland. *Queensland Department of Primary Industries*, RQR85006.

MacDonald RN (1992). Trenbolone acetate/oestradiol as a wet season growth promotant for steers on low quality native pasture. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, **19**, 418.

Sawyer GJ, Casey RH, Barker DJ (1987). Growth response of steer calves treated with zeranol, oestradiol-17 β or progesterone-oestradiol benzoate implants before and after weaning. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, **64(12)**, 371.

Tudor GD, James T, Hunter RA (1992). Seasonal growth and carcass characteristics of grazing steers implanted with trenbolone acetate and oestradiol. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, **32**, 683-687.

achieved in New Zealand with young steers constantly gaining weight at more than 0.7 kg/d. Over 266 days the liveweight advantage to those implanted with Compudose 400 was 0.13 kg/d⁽⁵¹⁾. This raises the possibility of similar responses, and responses equivalent to those with shorter acting implants, in southern Australia where base liveweight gains are generally much higher and more sustained during the year than those in the north.

There is general agreement in the scientific literature that at least on high energy diets, combination implants containing both an androgen and an oestrogen give an increased growth response to implants containing only an oestrogen for the first 100 days after implantation ^(1,52). A comparison of Figure 4 (d) with Figures 4 (a), (b) and (c) suggests that this is also the case with cattle with low to moderate growth rate at pasture in Australia.



Figure 5^3 . The liveweight response in individual experiments with feedlot steers and heifers implanted with one of the following HGPs; Revalor S, Revalor H, Synovex S, Compudose 100, Ralgro. The straight line shows the situation of equality of liveweight gain between implanted and non-implanted cattle.

³ The data used in the generation of figure 5 were results from Australian experiments organised by or conducted by Elanco Animal Health and Virbac Animal Health or their associate companies. These results are not published in the scientific literature, but were kindly made available for this review. Other data were from:-

Hoffman WD, Hearnshaw H (1996). Growth promotant (Revalor) increased liveweight gains while maintaining desirable carcase traits in feedlot finished steers. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, **21**, 474.

Knights PT, Venamore PC (1985). Growth promotant review in Central Queensland. *Queensland Department of Primary Industries*, RQR85006.

Loxton I, Forster S, Barnes A, Ebbern K, Reid D, Doyle J (2001). Evaluation of hormonal growth promotants for the Brigalow Research Station feedlot. *Queensland Department of Primary Industries*. Final Report Q001004.

Sawyer GJ, Jennings MP, Barker DJ, Casey RH (1988). Response in liveweight and carcase gain to type of anabolic agent and repeat implantation of steers and heifers on feedlot. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, **17**, 322.

Tudor GD, Sawyer GJ, Moyle PW (1996). Revalor H and dietary effects on growth and fat development in grain-fed early or late maturing heifers. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, **21**, 431.

The data used to generate Figure 4 (d) was from experiments using Revalor G (60 mg trenbolone acetate, 12mg oestradiol-17 β) and the higher dose Revalor S (140 mg trenbolone acetate, 28 mg oestradiol-17 β). This was done because the reviewer was unable to source sufficient Australian data with Revalor G to draw meaningful conclusions. Although Revalor G is now recommended for grass-fed cattle, Revalor S was used commercially in cattle at pasture prior to the registration of the G product. The regression equation predicts a 0.24 kg/d response in growth rate at a base rate of 0.4 kg/d and a 0.20 kg/d response at a base rate of 0.8 kg/d. Some of these data were from experiments with calves between branding and weaning whose forage diet was supplemented with a high-energy diet from the dam. All data used were that from the first 100 days after implementation.

The liveweight gain responses from 18 experiments in Australian feedlot cattle are shown in Figure 5. Response to the various hormones and combinations of hormones are all on the one figure because of the paucity of information available. Many of the experimental results sourced did not have non-implanted controls and were a comparison of the various commercial products. Consequently these data were not included.

The seasonality of the Australian environment results in wide fluctuations in the nutritive value of pasture. The consequence is that cattle can take a number of years to reach target market weights. This is especially the case in northern Australia. Researchers at CSIRO Rockhampton investigated implantation strategies that achieved growth responses in addition to those achieved using a product that releases hormone over a 400 day period. Treatment of steers with 21 mg oestradiol-17 β every 105 days for 420 days (4 implantations) resulted in a total liveweight gain of 279 kg compared with total gains of 251 kg and 230 kg for the 400 day product containing 44 mg oestradiol-17 β (single implantation) and the non-implanted controls respectively ⁽²⁸⁾. A study that measured nitrogen retention as a measure of anabolic activity found that nitrogen retention was highest in the first weeks after implantation and attenuated towards the end of the 100 day period anabolic activity.

Sustained liveweight gains of steers for periods of up to 700 days by reimplantation with a series of oestrogenic and androgenic treatments and their combinations have been recorded. A response of 50 kg over non-implanted controls was achieved over a 400 day period by either alternate treatment of an oestrogen followed by an androgen on a 100 day rotation or repeat treatment with an oestrogen (total liveweight gains, 250, 300 and 293kg respectively for non-implanted and treated steers) ⁽¹⁰⁾. In another experiment, repeat treatment with oestradiol-17 β every 100 days achieved a growth response of 42 and 47 kg in steers finished for the Japanese ox market in a feedlot and on pasture respectively (total liveweight gains, 293 and 335 kg, 327 and 374 kg for non-implanted and implanted for feedlot and pasture finished respectively) ⁽⁵³⁾. Two treatments with 140 mg trenbolone acetate and 28 mg oestradiol-17 β over 302 days resulted in a 37 kg liveweight gain advantage over non-implanted controls (total liveweight gains of 190 and 153 kg respectively) ⁽⁵⁴⁾.

In the transfer of cattle from the grass-fed to the feedlot sector, the implant status of an animal may not be well-defined. If an animal has a residual functional implant, there is the potential for double dosing with consequences for behaviour in the feedlot, carcass and eating quality modification. The effects of HGPs on these will be discussed in later sections of the review. For growth rate, there is evidence ⁽⁵⁵⁾ that greatest lifetime gains through the pasture and feedlotting phases are achieved with a progression through implants with low, moderate and high anabolic activity. For steers this could translate to using Ralgro, Compudose or Synovex C in the growing phase, Synovex S, Progro S or Revalor G in the backgrounding phase/early feedlotting phase, then Revalor S or one of the oestrogenic implants plus Progro T-S as a terminal implant in the late feedlotting phase. Such a strategy was confirmed when the results of 77 experiments involving 14,127 feedlot cattle were analysed ⁽⁵⁶⁾. Best growth rates were achieved with a second implant of an oestrogen plus an androgen. The same study also examined 30 experiments involving 5,489 heifers. There needs to be some caution with these results because of the small number of

experiments which included a reimplantation strategy. The best growth rates resulted from repeat implantation with an oestrogen or repeat implantation with the combination of both an oestrogen plus an androgen.

Treatment during periods of liveweight loss

There is no published information to suggest that the liveweight performance of implanted cattle is disadvantaged during periods of liveweight loss. This applies even with oestradiol treatment which acts through the growth hormone axis to promote growth. Increased growth hormone activity is consistent with an increase in metabolic rate and an increase in maintenance energy requirements. Steers treated with 20 mg oestradiol benzoate and 200 mg of trenbolone acetate were found to have slightly elevated fasting metabolic rates compared to non-implanted controls, though the difference was not statistically significant ⁽⁵⁷⁾. However undernourished steers treated with 24 mg oestradiol-17 β had similar fasting metabolic rates and lost weight at a similar rate as non-implanted controls ⁽⁴⁹⁾. Similarly undernourished steers treated with up to 400 mg trenbolone acetate plus oestradiol 17- β in the ratio of 10:1 lost weight at about the same rate as non-implanted controls ⁽⁵⁸⁾, so dose of the combination of hormones appears not to be an issue.

Large doses of trenbolone acetate alone (300 mg or more) do reduce the rate of weight loss in steers during periods of chronic under-nutrition ^(58,59,60) associated with a 10 % reduction in metabolic rate ⁽⁶¹⁾. The product containing 300 mg of trenbolone acetate alone, Finaplix, is no longer registered for use in Australia.

Genetic selection for growth and response to HGP treatment

Using a variety of indicators, the overwhelming probability is that there has been no measurable diminution, or increase, in the growth response to HGP treatment associated with increased genetic selection for growth rate.

Since the first HGP product was registered for use in Australia about 30 years ago, there has been considerable genetic selection for improved growth rate in cattle breeding programs. Estimated Breeding Values (EBVs) for weaning weight, weight at 400 days and weight at 600 days are now commonly used in decisions on bull purchases in all environments. The question arises as to whether there is any interaction between increased genetic selection for growth and response to HGP treatment. This is almost impossible to test by direct scientific experimentation because it would involve comparing a group of modern cattle with a group that has undergone no selection pressure, including natural selection, for the last 30 years. The question can, however, be addressed using indirect or circumstantial evidence.

The previous section on mechanisms of action documents that HGPs stimulate growth by modifying a few select metabolic pathways. Genetic selection for growth rate generally takes a much broader but less well-defined approach. Animals that are heavier at the point of selection or have genes, as measured by EBVs, or gene markers that are associated with increased growth rate are used for breeding. There are many components capable of influencing growth rate, including feed intake, digestive efficiency, adaptation to the climatic environment, disease and parasite resistance, temperament, as well as a myriad of interrelating biochemical and physiological transactions. The vast majority of these are not substantially influenced by HGP treatment. For genetic selection to influence the action of an HGP, the metabolic pathways through which HGPs operate would have to be advanced to such an extent that no further advancement was possible. For example, cell receptors would have to be fully saturated continually for 100 days straight so no binding associated with exogenous hormone treatment could occur.

Genetically, survival is of higher priority than improvements to growth rate. During chronic undernourishment, cattle can reduce their maintenance energy requirements by 25 % over 3 months ⁽⁶²⁾ by reducing the amount of high metabolic activity tissues such as liver and gut. Despite this genetically controlled device to reduce energy requirements and increase the probability of survival, chronically under-nourished cattle still reduce their energy requirements, measured by metabolic rate, a further 10 % when implanted with 300 mg trenbolone acetate ^{(61).} Presumably the HGP treatment assisted the animals to reduce energy expenditure by involving a new method of energy reduction or increasing the activity of one that was already in use.

Further circumstantial evidence that the growth response to HGP treatment co-exists unchanged with genetic selection for growth lies in the lack of published information on the subject. A search of the scientific literature failed to identify one publication addressing the issue. Concurrent genetic improvement programs and refinement of implant programs are central to the beef production industry in the United States. The steady stream of scientific publications from that country continues to report growth rate and feed efficiency responses to HGP treatment that are still in the range that was reported twenty years ago.

Effects on feed intake and efficiency of feed conversion

A review of numerous feedlot experiments in the United States which included experiments with different implantation strategies concluded that the average increase in liveweight gain was 18 %, the average increase in feed intake expressed as kilograms per day was six % and the average increase in feed conversion efficiency was 8 %. ⁽⁵²⁾.

An important question of biological and economic significance is whether the higher daily feed intake of implanted cattle is associated with their increased feed requirements due to increased liveweight or whether hormone treatment increases feed intake *per se*. The action of oestrogens in increasing the secretion of growth hormone, slightly increasing metabolic rate and consequently energy requirements for maintenance was discussed previously. Scientific investigations from the feedlot sector invariably report feed intakes in kilograms per day. However some studies provide sufficient information to allow mean feed intakes to be calculated on a per kilogram of liveweight basis. Although statistical analysis of the mean values from each experiment is not possible, reliable conclusions can be drawn. Over the number of experiments for which calculations were made, there was no trend for implanted steers or heifers to have higher feed intakes on a grams of feed per kilogram of liveweight basis than their non-implanted contemporaries ^(63,64,65,66,67,68). This trend for similarity of intakes between implanted and non-implanted cattle was not affected by the crude protein content of the diet ⁽⁶⁸⁾, the type of hormone formulation used ⁽⁶⁷⁾ or the nature of the reimplantation strategy ^(64,65). Consequently it is reasonable to conclude that implanted cattle eat more feed per day because they are heavier not because hormone treatment increases the drive for feed consumption.

This conclusion is consistent with results from experiments with steers gaining weight on forage diets in which feed intake per kilogram of liveweight was measured and found to be not statistically different between non-implanted control steers and steers treated with testosterone propionate ⁽⁶⁹⁾ or oestradiol-17 β ⁽⁴⁹⁾.

For single implantations, the hormone formulations which result in the largest responses in growth rates are those which result in the largest improvements in feed conversion efficiencies. Combined implants of trenbolone acetate and oestradiol are associated with larger improvements than implants containing only oestradiol ^(52,67). However with multiple implantation strategies, irrespective of the type of hormones used, there appears to be no evidence that one strategy is superior to another in improving efficiency ^(64,65). Furthermore, repeated implantation with oestradiol during the grow-out phase at pasture did not impair the improvement in feed conversion efficiency of cattle given implants of oestradiol alone or implants of oestradiol plus trenbolone acetate during feedlot finishing ⁽⁶⁴⁾.

The improvements in feed conversion efficiency with HGP treatment are of commercial significance for feedlots because the feed costs per unit of liveweight gain are decreased. Calculations using published figures for the energy requirements for a growth rate of 1.25 kg/d ⁽⁷⁰⁾,

assuming an eight % improvement in efficiency from implantation, show the following for a grainbased diet of 12MJ/kg dry matter:

- The feed requirements for a steer entering the feedlot at 300 kg liveweight and gaining 100 kg are 646 kg and 594 kg for a non-implanted and an implanted animal respectively.
- The feed requirements for a steer entering the feedlot at 400 kg and gaining 250 kg are 1,692 kg and 1,556 kg for a non-implanted and an implanted animal respectively.

Effects on carcass composition

The anabolic actions of HGPs result in a greater proportion of the metabolisable energy intake being partitioned towards protein rather than fat deposition. This means the energy content per unit of liveweight gain at comparable stages of growth is less in implanted cattle and they are heavier at common body composition with non-implanted cattle $^{(71)}$. The corollary is that HGP-treated cattle are leaner at any given bodyweight. The increased carcass leanness at any given liveweight is usually from 5-8 % $^{(1)}$. Whether there are measurable differences in carcass composition at slaughter, depend on a number of factors such as the type of implant used, the duration of the implant program, the stage of growth at which the cattle are implanted and the maturity type of the cattle involved.

HGP treatment also increases frame size ^(72,73,74). Thus at any given intermediate weight, implanted cattle are more distant from their mature liveweight and mature body composition than comparable non-implanted cattle. This has implications for the scientific interpretations of experimental results because data are often adjusted for, and comparisons made, at the same carcass weight. When this is the case, the comparison is between more mature non-implanted cattle and less mature implanted cattle. Thus it is not surprising that implanted cattle are often found to be leaner. This is of commercial significance as cattle are often traded at a specified market weight, not a specified degree of maturity.

The hormone composition of the implant has an influence on the relative deposition rates of fat and protein and on the differential growth rates of different muscles. Bulls produce leaner carcasses than steers with lower proportions of subcutaneous and intramuscular fat ⁽⁶³⁾. Similarly, implants containing testosterone or trenbolone acetate also produce leaner carcasses when comparisons are made at the same end date. Though there is increased musculature in all areas of the carcass, there is an added tendency for increased weight of neck muscles as is the case with bulls ⁽⁷⁵⁾. Feedlot heifers treated with 200 mg trenbolone acetate and 20 mg oestradiol-17 β also had increased meat yield, primarily in the lower value cuts, and reduced fat deposition compared to non-implanted controls ⁽⁷⁶⁾. Oestradiol, whether implanted once or a number of times, generally has a lesser impact on carcass fatness in cattle slaughtered at commercial bodyweights ^(28,51,53,56). This implies that oestradiol does not modify carcass composition to the same extent as the androgens (testosterone and trenbolone acetate).

There is a paucity of experimental information on the body compositional changes that occur in response to androgenic implantation of pasture-fed cattle slaughtered at commercial end-points in Australia. Repeated treatment with 140 mg trenbolone acetate and 28 mg oestradiol-17 β at regular intervals for 12 months reduced P8 fat depth from 12 mm in non-implanted steers of 584kg final liveweight to 8 mm in implanted steers of 604kg final liveweight ⁽⁵⁴⁾. The 140 mg trenbolone acetate product has now been replaced by a 60 mg product for cattle at pasture so it is possible that the lower dose product would have a smaller effect on carcass fatness.

Long term (with one implant for 400 days) and repeated (every 100 days for up to 700 days) treatment with oestradiol-17 β had minimal impact on carcass fatness of cattle finished on pasture or in a feedlot and slaughtered at weights corresponding to the domestic, Korean and Japanese specifications when the comparisons were made at the same carcass weight ^(28,53). Weight of retail primals and eye muscle area were also unaffected by the very aggressive and non-commercial oestradiol treatment. At slaughter, the implanted animals were heavier and produced more beef

but this was associated with increased carcass weight rather than a differential increase in proportion of muscle.

The stage of growth and the maturity type of the cattle are likely to affect the response to body compositional change to implantation. These are discussed in some detail in the next section. Implantation of young cattle, especially late maturing genotypes of high mature bodyweight is likely to delay the onset of significant fat deposition. This can be of commercial significance for markets which require a specified fatness at bodyweights well below mature bodyweights. In some circumstances implanted cattle, especially those treated with trenbolone acetate or testosterone may attain market weight without the desired degree of fatness.

The effect of HGPs on marbling is confusing. There are many conflicting reports on the effect of various implant strategies from the United States feedlot sector. This confusion possibly arises through differences in implant status of cattle prior to the experimental phase in the feedlot, and differences in the lengths of exposure to hormonal treatment during finishing on a high-grain diet. There is general agreement in the scientific literature that oestrogens alone, even repeat treatment, have minimal effect on marbling score ^(73,77). Even the aggressive, but non-practical strategy of implanting cattle every 100 days with oestradiol-17^β from weaning through to finishing at pasture or in a feedlot did not modify intramuscular fat content when comparisons were made at the same carcass weight ⁽⁵³⁾. While it is clear that the degree of marbling is not increased by HGP treatment, the implants most likely to reduce marbling score are those containing trenbolone acetate combined with an oestrogen rather than those with just an oestrogen. The likelihood is increased when the combination implant is administered during early periods of growth and when treatment is repeated by a second such implantation during the feedlot phase ⁽⁷⁸⁾. There is evidence to suggest that intramuscular fat deposition begins as early as 4-12 months of age ^(79,80). Androgenic treatment during this period is likely to retard the onset of fat deposition in muscle. Using an implant like an oestrogen alone during the early life of an animal, or no implant, before a terminal implant of trenbolone acetate and an oestrogen decreases the likelihood of marbling being reduced ⁽⁸¹⁾. An histological and biochemical study of intramuscular fat cell growth has led to the suggestion that the combination implant does not have a direct effect on intramuscular fat deposition ⁽⁸²⁾. The effect is indirect through a dilution of the same amount of fat in a larger muscle ⁽⁸³⁾.

Treatment of early and late maturing cattle

There are very few direct comparisons of the response to HGP treatment by cattle of different maturity type. Those that are available are consistent with the principles described above. HGP treatment increases frame size and mature bodyweight. Thus HGP treated cattle are heavier when they achieve the same body composition/degree of fatness as comparable non-implanted controls. At any given liveweight, late maturing genotypes are in a more anabolic growth phase than early maturing breeds as more protein relative to fat makes up the composition of the body gain. HGP treatment increases the intensity and duration of the anabolic activity. The deposition of unit weight of muscle requires less dietary energy than deposition of unit weight of fat so liveweight gains are generally higher earlier in an animal's life. This means that for animals fed *ad libitum* on good quality diets, late maturing British types. Implanted European types in the active protein deposition phase of growth could be expected to have a greater response in growth rate to HGP treatment than early maturing types, where fat is a larger component of the body gain.

This theoretical hypothesis was at least partially validated in an experiment in Western Australia in which the liveweight response to treatment with 200 mg trenbolone acetate and 20 mg oestradiol was 26 % for 130 days feeding in heifers with European sires compared to 7 % response in Angus heifers fed for 94 days ⁽⁸⁴⁾. The different feeding period was because slaughter was at a target P8 fat thickness of 10mm. The weights at which the backfat thickness was reached was 387 kg for non-implanted Angus, 403 kg for implanted Angus, 409 kg for non-implanted European crossbreeds; thus demonstrating the heavier

weights at which cattle, implanted with the hormones described above, attained the same body composition as non-implanted controls.

The results of 43 published independent experiments were combined in a meta-analysis aimed at relating maturity type and HGP status to carcass characteristics ⁽⁸⁵⁾. Neither maturity type nor implant status affected dressing percentage at any given commercial slaughter weight. Area of the *longissimus.dorsi* muscle was greatest in implanted, late maturing types and smallest in non-implanted early-moderate maturing types. Backfat thickness was in the reverse order to muscle area; non-implanted early maturing, implanted early maturing, non-implanted late maturing and the implanted late maturing cattle having the least depth of cover. These results are also consistent with the theoretical considerations and the results of the experiment in Western Australia ⁽⁸⁴⁾.

Effects on meat eating quality

There has been considerable research interest over the last decade on the effect of HGP treatment on the eating quality of beef. In the early years of interest, there was uncertainty about whether there was, or was not, a negative effect and if there was, its magnitude. Now that larger data sets from experiments designed specifically to measure the effects of various hormonal treatments on eating quality are available, it is clear that the effect of implantation with growth promoting hormones is negative. The recent evidence also shows that reported HGP effects on tenderness and eating quality measures vary between studies, are often small and difficult to measure and are influenced by the number and type of HGPs used, animal breed and duration and type of postslaughter treatment such as ageing. The following section details how our understanding of this commercially important issue has evolved over time.

It is suggested that the initial confusion surrounding HGPs and their effects on meat quality was associated with: 1) the way eating quality was measured; and/or 2) the variability of individual measurements on meat samples from the same muscle from animals in each treatment group; and/or 3) the relatively small sample size. The subjective measurement of eating quality using taste panels probably results in more variability around a mean value than measurements such as growth rate which are measured objectively, usually on more than one occasion. Additionally variability is probably introduced by differences in individual animal reaction to pre-slaughter handling and post-slaughter processing.

For example, in one experiment ⁽⁵³⁾ with almost 20 animals in each of 4 treatment groups, the standard errors of the means for subjectively assessed eating quality were in the range of 5.0-6.3 % of the means compared to standard errors in the range of 3.9 -5.3 % of the means for growth rates. HGP treated steers had growth rates 14-16 % higher and eating quality scores of the striploin 9-12 % lower than the respective values for non-implanted controls. When these data were analysed statistically, the treatment differences in growth rate were statistically significant and treatment differences in eating quality were not. Thus to determine scientifically treatment differences in eating quality, more animals per treatment group would be required than in experiments where the major focus is measurement of objectively measured characteristics such as growth rate, carcass weight and subcutaneous fat thickness. This experiment reported the results of only the first calf drop in a larger study involving two calf drops. When the results from the second calf drop were included in the analysis and numbers of samples assessed for taste panel tenderness increased from 69 to 234, the negative effect of the HGP treatment on eating quality became statistically significant ⁽⁸⁶⁾.

A search of the scientific literature for experiments which measured both growth rate and eating quality found that it was the norm for the positive response in growth rate to be larger that the negative response in objectively measured tenderness or subjectively assessed eating quality. Likewise, the variation around the mean growth rates was less than the variation around the mean tenderness and eating quality values ^(28,30,51,65,87). This evidence suggests that experiments with larger sample sizes are required to demonstrate statistically significant differences in eating

quality compared to statistically significant differences in growth rate. As many of the experimental reports in the scientific literature were designed to measure the effect of HGPs on production characteristics with eating quality as an ancillary measurement, with hindsight it is not surprising that the eating quality effects were equivocal.

A review in 2002 concluded that HGPs have subtle, if any, effects on tenderness measured objectively or subjectively ⁽⁸⁸⁾. This investigation drew its conclusions from the results of over 30 experiments. The approach taken was to view each experiment independent of other experiments. Many of the experiments reviewed reported a numerical difference which was not statistically significant or no difference at all. As there was no real evidence of a recurring statistically significant effect, a conclusion of no effect was reached.

An alternative approach to the analysis of multiple experiments is the use of meta-analysis. This methodology provides more statistical power than the analysis of each experiment in isolation from other experiments. It is a quantitative mathematical procedure which is essentially an analysis of the combined statistical analyses of a number of experiments. It links experiments and in so doing increases the sample size which addresses the variability issue discussed above. A recent meta-analysis ⁽⁸⁹⁾ provides evidence that HGP treatment leads to a reduction in beef tenderness of the longissimus dorsi muscle, measured objectively or subjectively. Interestingly both investigations ^(88,89) used many of the same published papers as a source of data but came to different conclusions because of the methodologies used.

Another reason for the lack of clarity about the effect of growth promoting hormones on eating quality has been the tendency to describe all treatments as HGP treatments, irrespective of whether treatment is with a single hormone or a combination of hormones administered only once or repeatedly. Some implant strategies might result in minor differences which are difficult to detect, while other strategies with a larger effect are more easily demonstrated. Both the experiment by experiment investigation and the meta-analysis appeared to reach conclusions on a general HGP effect without differentiating between the effects of individual hormones and different implantation strategies.

Over the last few years, it has become clear that combination implants of trenbolone acetate and oestradiol and testosterone propionate and oestradiol and multiple implants of all hormone formulations are associated with reduced tenderness and reduced eating quality of non-aged and aged steaks compared to non-implanted controls ^(86,89,90). However the scientific literature does not appear to have considered the extent to which oestrogenic and androgenic hormones individually influence tenderness and eating quality of meat; probably because trenbolone acetate and testosterone are rarely implanted without an accompanying oestrogen in a combination implant. Also much of the early eating quality investigations were conducted in the United States where cattle are usually finished in feedlots and the majority are given a combination implant at least once during the finishing period.

There is recent evidence that the individual effects of trenbolone acetate and oestradiol in combination implants appear to be additive in increasing meat toughness and with repeat implantation there is a positive linear relationship between cumulative combined dose and toughness ⁽⁹¹⁾. The move to whole of life implant programs and the increase in the aggressiveness of these programs, especially with feedlot finishing and use of combination implants, has brought increased attention onto the interaction of HGPs with eating quality.

The effect of commercial use of implants containing only oestradiol on meat eating quality has not been adequately addressed. It is known that repeated treatment with 20 mg oestradiol-17 β every 100 days does lead to reductions in eating quality ⁽⁸⁶⁾. Such an aggressive strategy is unlikely to be used commercially in Australia. The Australian grass-fed industry, especially in northern Australia, has a heavy reliance on long-acting, silastic rubber implants containing only oestradiol. Steers are often implanted at branding or weaning with a 200 or 400 day implant and then implanted again

with one of these implants when the anabolic activity associated with the first has ceased. The cumulative lifetime dose of oestradiol would not usually exceed 100 mg.

In most of the Australian experiments in which there has been a statistically significant effect of hormone treatment on eating quality, combination implants of an androgen and oestradiol have been used. A single implant of either 140 mg trenbolone acetate and 28 mg oestradiol-17 β or 200 mg trenbolone acetate and 20 mg oestradiol-17 β resulted in a significant reduction in eating quality of non-aged steaks in steers and heifers respectively ⁽⁹⁰⁾. The meta-analysis of Watson ⁽⁸⁹⁾ which also found a statistically significant negative effect of HGP treatment used the data sets available at the time which were mostly from feedlot experiments and which were dominated by those with multiple implantations and/or use of a combination of hormones as the terminal implant.

Another experiment ⁽⁹²⁾ investigated the effect of various implant strategies during the grow-out phase on pasture in northern Australia followed by use of a combination implant during feedlot finishing. The lifetime cumulative dose of hormones varied between 56 mg oestradiol-17 β and 60 mg trenbolone acetate and 84 mg oestradiol-17 β and 200 mg trenbolone acetate and included a treatment of 52 mg oestradiol-17 β and 260 mg trenbolone acetate. There were no significant differences between the various implant strategies, possibly associated with the small numbers in each treatment group (>15 for HGP treated groups). When all the HGP treatment were combined into one group, the negative effect of treatment on eating quality was statistically significant.

Circumstantial evidence suggests that implantation with oestradiol alone, as it is used commercially in Australia, has a lesser effect on eating quality than implantation with combinations of oestradiol plus androgens. The evidence can be summarised:

- One large study with 2,748 steers reported that untrained taste panellists could not detect any difference in eating quality between steaks, aged 21 days, from non-implanted control steers and steaks from steers implanted twice with 20 mg oestradiol benzoate for the 210 days before slaughter. On the other hand, trained panellists could detect the small difference that was evident from objective shear force measurements ⁽⁹³⁾.
- There was no statistical difference in shear force values (6.3 kg and 5.9 kg for control and treated respectively) when steers (n = ~30 per treatment group) were administered 20 mg oestradiol-17β in the wet season in each of two consecutive years ⁽³⁰⁾.
- There was no statistical difference in shear force values (6.3 kg and 6.2 kg for control and treated respectively) when steers (n = ~ 30) were administered 20 mg oestradiol-17β in the wet season followed by 44 mg oestradiol-17β 100 days later in each of two successive years ⁽³⁰⁾. In this and the preceding comparison, the shear force values were higher than those associated with acceptable tenderness. Factors external to treatment may have been involved and these may have masked treatment differences.
- There was no statistical difference in subjective assessments of tenderness and eating quality when steers (n = 240 for control and 235 for treated) were implanted with 20 mg oestradiol-17β every 100 days from soon after weaning until slaughter. The steers were prepared for the domestic, Korean and Japanese markets and had from 2-8 implants ⁽⁹⁴⁾. It should be noted that when data from the same data base of the Cooperative Research Centre for the Cattle and Beef Industries were analysed by other scientists, the difference between implanted and non-implanted steers for the subjective assessment of tenderness was statistically significant, driven largely by the magnitude of the reduction in tenderness in the straightbred Brahmans compared to the other breeds (see below) ^(86Errort Bookmark not defined.). It should also be noted that such an aggressive implant strategy is unlikely to be used in commercial practice in Australia. Although both analyses used data from the same experiment and from the same data base, there is no way of knowing whether the particular data sets were exactly the same. In addition, the statistical models used may have been different.

 There was no statistical difference in shear force values when steers (n = 17 for control and 16 for treated) were implanted once with 44 mg oestradiol-17β (5.1 kg and 5.5 kg for controls and treateds respectively) ⁽²⁸⁾.

However, the definitive experiments to quantify the relative impact of different implantation strategies typically used in north Australian grass-fed production systems have not been conducted.

Treatment with both oestrogenic and androgenic growth promoters results in advanced skeletal maturity ${}^{(30,95)}$. This is seen in higher ossification scores at slaughter. This effect of HGPs in advancing physiological maturity of cattle has implications for the assessment of eating quality as some predictive models use ossification, notably increased ossification score, as an indicator of reduced eating quality. The degree to which skeletal maturity is advanced is influenced by the number and potency of the implants administered ${}^{(96)}$.

There is now clear evidence that post-mortem aging helps mitigate the detrimental effect on eating guality resulting from mild or moderately aggressive HGP implant programs. The extent of improvement in eating quality of HGP treated meat is muscle dependent, the magnitude of improvement being proportional to the aging rate of the muscle ⁽⁹⁰⁾. On the other hand, the muscles with the greatest rates of aging like the striploin are also the muscles where the negative effect of hormone treatment is greatest in the non-aged state and where the improvements from aging are greatest ⁽⁹⁷⁾. For example in this experiment, 21 days aging of the striploin resulted in steaks with shear force values not significantly different from non-implanted controls. The steers and heifers had each been implanted once with 140 mg trenbolone acetate plus 28 mg oestradiol-17 β or 200 mg trenbolone acetate plus 20 mg oestradiol-17ß respectively. With a more aggressive strategy of two trenbolone acetate/oestradiol implants in the finishing period, striploin steaks aged 21-28 days exhibited a substantial improvement in tenderness and were in the range where consumers would class the meat as tender (~ 3.5kg) ⁽⁹¹⁾. However it should be noted that steaks from non-implanted steers also underwent similar substantial improvement in tenderness with aging and after 28 days were still objectively measured as more tender than steaks from implanted steers, though the difference was not statistically significant.

One study also found an interaction between genotype and oestradiol-17 β use on meat eating quality ^(Error! Bookmark not defined.). This study subjectively assessed tenderness of non-aged samples from the striploin in response to repeated implantation with 20 mg oestradiol-17 β for three different genotypes. The reduction in tenderness of steaks from straightbred Brahmans (n=15) was 13.4 units compared to 5.3 units for F1 Brahman x Santa Gertrudis (n=9) (69 % Brahman) and a mean of 3.4 units for three F1 Brahman x *Bos taurus* crosses (n=85) (50 % Brahman). The reduction in tenderness compared to non-implanted controls was statistically significant for the straight bred Brahmans but not for the crossbreds.

Meat and Livestock Australia through Meat Standards Australia have developed a computer model which is used to predict eating quality of meat from easily measured characteristics of the animal, its husbandry and its carcass. Factors likely to affect final eating quality are taken into account and the ranking modified accordingly. The approach is risk averse and negative factors such as HGP status receive a muscle specific penalty commensurate with assured eating quality. The HGP penalty ranges from 8 MSA scores (MQ4) for the striploin aged for 5 days (5 points when aged for 21 days) to zero for muscles like the oyster blade.

HGP use does not prevent a carcass from MSA grading but will affect the MSA score achieved for the different muscles. For muscles that without HGP treatment would be near the bottom score for an MSA score (e.g. MSA 4), the additional penalty of having an HGP might move them to a lower grade (e.g. MSA 3) or prevent an MSA grade altogether (ungraded).

For simplicity of operation and lack of more specific information, the scheme does not differentiate between different implant formulations, single or repeat implantation or stage of growth of hormone treatment. An animal treated once between branding and weaning is treated the same as an animal subject to a whole of life implant program.

Effects on fertility of breeding females

The labels of most of the products registered for use in Australia with heifers carry the warning that the product should not be used in breeding females. This recommendation is sound because both oestrogenic and androgenic growth promoting hormones can impair ovarian development and function, and mammary gland development.

Possibly the only instance where treatment to promote growth might be administered without some negative consequence to reproductive capacity is single treatment of heifer calves on a high plane of nutrition with an oestrogen in the first few months of age ^(98,99). Provided there is sufficient time for compensatory ovarian development to occur, the heifer will reach puberty at the normal time. However if they are not on a very high plane of nutrition, puberty is likely to be delayed. The variability of the Australian climate and its effect on nutritive value of pastures would preclude this strategy from being commercially attractive. The degree of impairment to reproductive function in all other cases depends on the type and dose of hormone administered and the age and/or physiological state of the heifer or cow.

Treatment of female calves with oestrogenic growth promotants increases pelvic area ⁽⁹⁹⁾. This might be attractive if it was associated with increased ease of calving, but unfortunately the increase in pelvic area relative to non-implanted controls has disappeared by calving, regardless of time of implantation ^(100,101,102).

There is clear evidence that implantation of young heifers, older than the calves in the particular set of circumstances described above, with oestrogenic hormones delays the onset of puberty $^{(98,99,103)}$ and that increasing the dose of hormone exacerbates the delay $^{(104)}$ through retarded development of ovarian and uterine tissue $^{(105 \text{ cited by } 99,104)}$.

Conception can be delayed slightly with single treatment of young heifers ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾ or reduced with repeated implantation ⁽⁹⁸⁾.

Oestrogens are involved in normal development of the mammary gland in the post-pubertal heifer. Additional oestrogen supplied in an implant may have a stimulatory effect on duct development but may cause abnormal alveolar development ⁽¹⁰⁷⁾. In his review, Hargrove concluded that oestrogen treatment resulted in increased mammary tissue development (especially teat length) and increased vulva length ⁽⁹⁹⁾ but presented evidence that milk production was not affected irrespective of whether the heifer is implanted before or during pregnancy. On the other hand, there is a report from New Zealand that a single, pre-weaning treatment of heifer calves with oestradiol-17 β subsequently resulted in their own calves being about 16 kg lighter than calves from the non-implanted control contemporaries at weaning ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾. This was considered to be associated with a serious impairment of milk production in the first few weeks of lactation.

There is strong evidence that treatment of heifers with androgens is not conducive to peak reproductive performance. Treatment of females with testosterone or trenbolone acetate at much higher doses than are currently used in commercial implants has caused the cessation of ovarian activity for 100 days ^(108,109) delayed the onset of puberty ⁽⁹⁹⁾, delayed first ovulation by 77 days ⁽¹¹⁰⁾ decreased calving rate and calf birth weight ⁽¹¹¹⁾ and increased rate of abortions ⁽¹¹²⁾. In the latter study, 40 % of cows in early pregnancy aborted after being injected every second day with 250 mg of testosterone propionate for 20 days. Commercial implants for heifers only contain 200 mg of testosterone propionate which enters the blood stream of the animal in small quantities over about 100 days. Injecting 250mg every second day was massive dosing compared to commercial implantation.

These consequences of treatment with high doses of hormone are listed to give the direction, if not the magnitude, of the physiological consequences of using implants containing androgens with females that may enter the breeding herd.

Repeat treatment of weaner heifers with a commercial product containing 200 mg testosterone propionate and 20 mg oestradiol benzoate was shown to decrease ovarian or follicular development ⁽¹¹³⁾. This impairment may explain the 22 and 17 reduced calving rate in first and subsequent second calf heifers respectively when they were implanted with the same hormone combination on three occasions at 90 day intervals soon after weaning ⁽¹¹⁴⁾. In this experiment mating for the first time did not commence until 290 days after the final implantation. Treatment of heifers at the start of mating with 300 mg trenbolone acetate decreased calving rate by 46 per cent ⁽¹¹⁵⁾.

Sometimes in Australia the pregnancy status of a cow is not always known and it is possible that a pregnant cow might be implanted with the objective being to increase growth rate before slaughter. For a cow in mid to late pregnancy, the ovary is relatively dormant and the pregnancy is maintained by the large amounts of hormones produced by the placenta. In this situation, it has been shown that the small amounts of additional hormone from an implant have a relatively minor effect on reproductive function. In an experiment in which the pay-out period of an implant containing 200 mg trenbolone acetate and 20 mg oestradiol-17 β roughly coincided with the last 3 months of pregnancy, there was no effect of treatment on calf survival before or after birth ⁽¹¹⁶⁾. There was some partitioning of ingested nutrients towards maternal tissues rather than calf growth in utero. Cows gained an additional 0.1 kg/d and calves were 3 kg lighter at birth. Milk yields appeared not to be affected as calf growth rates in the first 8 weeks of lactation were similar in both treatments. Fertility at the next mating was also unaffected by implant treatment.

Implant strategies and implant programs for sustained growth promotion

HGPs were first registered for use in cattle in the northern hemisphere where they were used as finishing agents. Cattle were implanted with a short-life implant about 3 months before slaughter. In these production systems, weaning weights were high and cattle were routinely slaughtered well before two years of age. The three months of hormone assisted growth represented a sizeable proportion of an animal's post-weaning life. The seasonality of pasture growth in Australia, especially northern Australia, results in cattle needing to have years, not months, of post-weaning growth to reach slaughter requirements. Consequently it would be advantageous in some situations if growth promotion could be sustained over years rather than just months.

Previous sections of this review have discussed the effects of HGP treatment on growth rate, carcass composition and eating quality. These effects need to be considered in relation to the aims of the beef production business before the decision whether or not to use HGPs is made. Once the decision to use HGPs is made, the implant program should be planned with the end beef product, both quantity and quality in mind. For example, if cattle with a genetic propensity for leanness are being prepared for a market that demands a generous fat cover on the carcass, it might not be prudent to use a hormone which promotes leanness in the final implant.

There are some general principles that can be applied to the design of implant programs ⁽³⁰⁾. The science behind them is outlined in the preceding sections of this review.

- Greater responses in liveweight gain are achieved when cattle are in continual positive energy balance than when they experience periods of liveweight stasis or weight loss.
- The more frequently cattle are treated with a new implant the greater the overall response in liveweight gain.

- Once an implant program has commenced, it should be continued through until slaughter if growth response is to be maximised.
- Sustained growth promotion can be achieved through repeat implantation with oestrogenic hormones or by alternate treatment of an oestrogen and a combination implant of an oestrogen plus an androgen.
- Repeat treatment with implants containing an androgen may reduce carcass fatness, increase forequarter development and result in downgrading of carcasses at slaughter.
- Oestrogenic treatment, even repeat treatment, does not modify carcass composition *per se*. Cattle attain mature carcass composition at higher mature liveweights. They may however be leaner at intermediate liveweights
- Repeated implantation, especially when usage of one or more combination implants occurs, results in a reduction in eating quality. Treatment with only one, or perhaps, two oestrogenic implants in the final years of finishing may have a lesser negative impact on eating quality.

The practicalities of managing a beef production enterprise probably mean that compromises need to be made between the scientifically optimal implant programs and commercial reality. Further, the current uncertainty of rainfall patterns compounds the situation, as high quality nutrition in certain seasons now cannot be relied upon.

In northern Australia, calves are usually weaned towards the end of the growing season and before the start of the long dry season. The growth rate that calves achieve on Brahman and Brahman cross dams is probably higher than any subsequent growth rate on pasture ^(10,117). Implantation of steer calves with an implant containing oestradiol and trenbolone acetate at branding, several months before weaning, would result in a growth response in the order of 0.2 kg/d (see Figure 4 (d)). If this was the strategy, reimplantation at weaning would need to occur, perhaps with a long acting (200 day plus), silastic rubber implant containing oestradiol-17 β to cover the animals through the dry season. With removal of the calf from the dam and the associated decrease in metabolisable energy intake, any HGP response to an oestrogenic implant alone is likely to be less than that to the first combination implant. If the weaners were in a weight loss situation, the implant would be unhelpful until such time as it rained and the cattle started to gain weight again. Any HGP response would depend on good nutritional conditions occurring while the implant was still functional so the full potential benefit would be achieved from the implant. Of course, if the weaners had access to supplementary feed and weight gain was continuous, post-weaning accelerated growth would also continue.

An alternative strategy would be to delay the first implantation until just before the onset of expected seasonal rains when cattle can be assuredly mustered. This strategy would forego the additional weight gain during the suckling phase, but would not waste hormone release from an implant into a weaner that did not have the capacity to exhibit accelerated growth during periods of sub-maintenance nutrition.

For cattle in continual weight gain, regular reimplantation results in higher weight gains than one long-acting 400 day implant ⁽²⁸⁾. Whether it is economically beneficial to muster cattle just to implant was examined using costs of labour and materials as they were in 2000 ⁽³⁰⁾. An independent consultant found that for some typical regions in northern Australia it was economically attractive to muster animals just to implant if mustering costs were less than about \$5 per head. A practical program might involve implantation of slaughter generation cattle whenever they are mustered for other routine husbandry procedures. This would involve having a planned schedule and matching the period of anabolic activity of the implants with the intervals between musters.

There are a number of studies ^(30,114) that document an attenuation of the liveweight advantage of implanted cattle relative to non-implanted controls once the influence of the implant is over. These

results suggest that once an implant program commences it should continue through to slaughter. Such a strategy does run the risk of hormone wastage during periods of liveweight loss during tough seasonal conditions. On the other hand in some parts of Australia, it is not possible to muster cattle for some time after the onset of seasonal rains. Having a long-acting implant in place "ready to go" takes immediate advantage of any increase in the animal's plane of nutrition.

One product, Progro T-S is specifically designed to be used on conjunction with long-acting oestradiol implants. It contains 140 mg trenbolone acetate and can be used to make a "combination implant" to take advantage of good nutritional conditions. Cattle with a functional silastic rubber implant can be mustered as soon as possible after the first onset of seasonal rains and treated with this product containing only trenbolone acetate. Provided there are follow-up rains, these cattle should experience a further growth boost for the next few months.

The section on body compositional changes drew attention to the fact that animals treated with an HGP have a higher mature weight than those not treated. The corollary is that at any liveweight before mature weight, treated animals are likely to be less fat than those growing without hormonal enhancement. This is especially so with the androgens, testosterone and trenbolone acetate, which actively promote leanness. Thus there are implications for markets which demand a specified degree of fatness at a specified liveweight. In general, the changes in body composition due to HGP treatment are less likely to prevent cattle breeds of early and medium maturity meeting such market specifications. Late maturing breeds which in normal circumstances might struggle to reach the specified degree of fatness might struggle even further when subjected to a whole of life HGP program.

Effects on bulls husbanded for meat production

The traditional practice of castration is intended to produce animals that are easier to manage and have a more marketable carcass. In general, castration minimises the lack of finish and tenderness problems that are often associated with bulls. It is the most common method of hormonal modification. The removal of the testes reduces the production of the males' natural anabolic steroids, testosterone and oestradiol. The low androgen and oestrogen activity of cattle compared to some other mammals and their capacity to exhibit a growth response to the provision of supplementary exogenous hormones was mentioned earlier in the section on mechanisms of action. Leaving male cattle intact lessens their reliance on externally administered hormones for the achievement of maximum growth rates.

The growth response to implantation depends on the stage of growth of the intact male. There is generally a reliable growth response to oestrogenic implants ^(118,119) and combinations of oestrogens and androgens ^(118,120) during the pre-pubertal phase of growth. The magnitude of the growth response to zeranol implants is similar to that in steers (5-23 %) ⁽¹²¹⁾.

From about 9 months of age and 250 plus kg liveweight, the recorded growth response of implanted bulls has been inconsistent, presumably because the animals' endogenous hormone productions are sometimes sufficient for near maximal growth rates at the pertaining nutritional conditions ⁽¹²²⁾. Some bulls implanted with oestrogenic hormones alone have exhibited increased growth rates of the order of 6-10 % ^(123,124) but others have exhibited minimal increases in growth rate ^{(125,126 cited by 122,127).}

Results with combination implants have been similarly inconsistent with both positive ^(128,129) and nil response ^(130,131).

From a review of the scientific literature comparing carcass compositions of bulls and steers, it was concluded that bulls have less subcutaneous fat, less marbling, less kidney fat, larger muscle areas, and lower carcass quality grades than steers ⁽¹³²⁾. Bull carcasses are more physiologically mature on the basis of bone ossification than steers of the same chronological age ⁽¹³³⁾. As

implantation of steers with growth promoting hormones advances bone ossification, it could be expected that implantation of bulls would promote ossification even further. This would have implications under the MSA grading system for bulls as the system applies a penalty for excessive ossification.

Implantation of bulls slaughtered at commercial liveweights appears to have a more consistent effect on carcass composition than on growth rates. This applies equally to implants containing oestrogenic hormones alone or a combination implant. The modification in carcass composition occurs whether or not there is a growth response to the implant. It is an essentially universal finding that implanted bulls have a fatter carcass than their non-implanted contemporaries ^(123, 127, 130). More specifically, there is greater depth of subcutaneous fat ^(63, 127) and more fat in the intermuscular depots ⁽⁶³⁾. Lifelong treatment with zeranol (5 serial implants) did not enhance marbling ⁽¹²³⁾. This association of implantation and fat deposition is the opposite effect to HGP treatment of steers. The mechanism by which this occurs appears not to be known.

The general finding is that bull meat has acceptable eating quality, though slightly below that of comparable steers ^{(132).}

Behaviour and side effects

Implanting cattle with oestrogenic and/or androgenic hormones causes minor changes to the animals' physiology which can modify their appearance, their behaviour or their social interactions with other animals. Some, like the suppression of oestrus in feedlot heifers, are desirable, but most others are unsightly to cattleman and in extreme cases can lead to economic loss. There are anecdotal reports from producers and observations from researchers that steers treated with androgenic hormones exhibit aggressive behaviour and are difficult to manage in the first months after implantation. The side effects are generally rare and have minor economic significance compared to the performance benefits realised from the use of implants ⁽¹³⁴⁾.

Oestrus related activities in feedlot heifers can reduce the efficiency of feed conversion and impair growth ^(135,136). As implantation with trenbolone acetate can suppress oestrus activity for up to 100 days ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ the full growth response to the implant can be realised ⁽¹³⁷⁾.

The androgenic activity of trenbolone acetate is 3-5 times that of testosterone ⁽¹⁴⁾. Consequently, implantation with trenbolone acetate, especially repeat implantation, leads to more accelerated development of bull-like characteristics than implantation with testosterone. The slight increase in forequarter musculature of steers and heifers implanted with trenbolone acetate was documented in the body composition section. There is anecdotal evidence from producers that steers treated with the 140 mg trenbolone acetate products exhibit more aggressive behaviour than normal for steers in the first weeks after implantation.

Cattle treated with androgens, principally trenbolone acetate, have the potential for an increased incidence of dark cutting meat ⁽¹³⁸⁾. Altered physiological functions, such as increased physical activity, draws heavily on glycogen stores in the muscle and leaves them depleted. If this occurs during transport or lairage, dark cutting meat post-slaughter can result. The aggressive behaviour of bulls increased the incidence of dark cutting meat ^(132,139,140) so any increase in aggressive behaviour of steers associated with androgen treatment is likely to have some effect, especially if steers are transported to abattoirs while the implant is still paying out appreciable amounts of hormone. Though the percentage of dark cutters was much less than one %, it was reduced further in cattle that were slaughtered more than 100 days after the last implantation ⁽¹³⁸⁾. Feedlot heifers given an oestrogenic implant as the final implant had a higher incidence of dark cutting than heifers given oestrogen plus trenbolone acetate as the final implant ⁽¹³⁸⁾. These authors stress that it is not the use of HGP products alone that increase the incidence of dark cutting, but more often the misuse, the off-label use (for example using heifer products containing a high dose of androgen in steers) and over use (double or triple implanting) that greatly increases the risk of dark cutting, increasing it to as much as 6 %.

The labels of HGP products carry the warning that vaginal, rectal and preputial prolapse, increased bulling activity, hightail, sunken loins, ventral oedema and udder development may occur as a side effect of treatment. For some of these conditions such as bulling and udder development, there is significant scientific literature. For the others, the evidence of association with HGP treatment is anecdotal from reliable industry sources. The overall incidence of all these combined seems to be less than 0.5 % of animals treated ⁽⁵⁾. The current extent of HGP sales and the steady increase in sales over recent years suggest that the beef industry does not see these side effects as a significant problem.

The incidence of preputial prolapse, generally partial, but occasionally full, linked to HGP use, is higher than vaginal or rectal prolapse, which are rarely seen. With preputial prolapse, the muscles or tendons holding the pizzle in place appear to relax allowing the pizzle to hang out to a variable extent. Loose pizzle tropical breeds are affected more than tropical breeds with a tighter pizzle while *Bos taurus* breeds appear to be unaffected ⁽¹⁴¹⁾. Age at first implant appears to have an influence ⁽¹⁴¹⁾. The problem seems not to develop when calves or weaners are implanted but does occur in steers implanted for the first time as adults. Any prolapses are most likely to occur soon after implantation when there is a surge of new hormone(s) into the system of the animal.

Hightail is another condition thought to be associated with the relaxation of ligaments; in this case, the sacroiliac ligaments, allowing the sacrum to rise giving the hightail effect ⁽¹⁴²⁾. Though the animal looks abnormal, there are no adverse effects on carcass or meat quality ⁽¹⁴²⁾.

Bulling or the buller steer syndrome occurs in both feedlots and at pasture. It occurs when a steer is repeatedly mounted and ridden by other steers. The incidence in US feedlots is 2.5 % ⁽¹⁴³⁾. Along with the type and timing of administration of growth promoting hormones, the number of steers in the group, mixing of steers from different origins, warm weather and handling procedures are also involved in the incidence of the behaviour ^(144,145). The scientific literature on the role of HGPs is confusing and contradictory. Some studies report that the weak oestrogenic implant, Ralgro, is associated with less bulling ⁽¹⁴⁴⁾ while others report no decreased incidence ⁽¹⁴⁶⁾. Some studies report an increased incidence with reimplantation ⁽¹⁴⁷⁾, others report no increase

Summary and conclusions

Hormonal growth promotants for cattle have been registered for use in Australia for the last 30 years. Growth rates of HGP treated cattle are increased in the range of 10-30 % and feed conversion efficiencies are improved by 5-15 %. The hormones are both oestrogenic and androgenic in the form of naturally occurring oestradiol and testosterone and the xenobiotics zeranol and trenbolone acetate. Implants are formulated to contain oestrogenic compounds alone or a combination of an oestrogen and an androgen, either testosterone or trenbolone acetate. Implants are used in both the grass-fed and feedlot sectors; the total number used in Australia in 2006/07 was 6.5 million.

Their principal use in the grass-fed industry is to increase the rate of liveweight gain and produce heavier carcasses suitable for the liveweight and age specifications for high-value markets. Their main benefit in the feedlot industry results from an increased efficiency of feed conversion and the associated reduction in feed costs per unit of liveweight gain. An economic evaluation of HGP use in Australia conducted in conjunction with this scientific review estimated that HGP usage contributed an additional \$210 million to the Australian beef industry in 2006-07.

The positive effect of HGP use on the rate of liveweight gain is extremely reliable and increased gains of about 0.1 kg/d routinely occur during the period of anabolic activity of the implant. This average liveweight response may be reduced when cattle go through seasonal fluctuations in the quantity and quality of feed on offer.

The anabolic actions of growth promoting hormones, especially the androgens, result in increased protein deposition, often at the expense of fat deposition. Hormonally treated cattle attain a higher mature size and weight than their non-treated contemporaries and are only at mature body composition at this higher mature weight. Thus at any liveweight before mature body composition is attained, implanted cattle are likely to be leaner than those not treated. The difference is usually in the range of 5-8 % less fat. This has commercial implications for markets which require a certain degree of fatness at given liveweight. In later maturing genotypes where fat cover may be marginal for that particular market, implantation, especially repeat implantation, may increase lean tissue deposition to the extent that cattle fail to achieve the desired fatness. This failure to meet market specifications is more likely to occur if the terminal implant contains an androgen plus oestradiol rather than just oestradiol. On the other hand, increased weight of muscle and increased leanness is desirable for other markets. Implantation with a combination of androgen plus oestradiol in the pre-slaughter months might be commercially attractive in early maturing breeds which deposit substantial amounts of fat at low liveweights.

Over recent years, clear evidence has emerged that HGP treatments have a negative effect on meat eating quality. Because eating quality is often a subjective assessment by taste panels and is influenced by a multitude of pre- and post-slaughter factors, the HGP effect is more difficult to demonstrate scientifically than a characteristic such as liveweight gain which is measured objectively and usually on more than one occasion in an experiment. The magnitude of the effect is determined by the hormonal composition of the implant and the cumulative dose of hormones when multiple implantations are involved. Implants containing both trenbolone acetate and oestradiol appear to have a greater negative effect than implants containing only oestradiol. Repeat implantation which leads to a larger cumulative dose of hormone/s delivered over a substantial duration of an animal's growth period exacerbate the extent of the negative effect. The reduction in eating quality is most marked in non-aged meat. Ageing for 21-28 days, especially in muscles which age extensively, helps to mitigate the detrimental HGP effect.

The seasonality of pasture growth in Australia, particularly northern Australia, results in extended grow-out periods for grass-fed cattle. Accordingly, extended or whole of life implant programs have been developed to ensure sustained growth promotion. No one program is universal. Factors to be considered when designing a program include the seasonality of nutritional conditions conducive to moderate to rapid liveweight gains, the genotype of the cattle, the market for which they are being prepared and the frequency with which cattle are yarded for normal husbandry procedures. Not withstanding these variables, there are general principles which are applicable in almost all situations. They are:

- Greater responses in liveweight gain are achieved when cattle are in continual positive energy balance than when they experience periods of liveweight stasis or weight loss.
- The more frequently cattle are treated with a new implant the greater the overall response in liveweight gain.
- Once an implant program has commenced, it should be continued through until slaughter if growth response is to be maximised.
- Sustained growth promotion can be achieved through repeat implantation with oestrogenic hormones or by alternate treatment of an oestrogen and a combination implant of an oestrogen plus an androgen.
- Repeat treatment with implants containing an androgen may reduce carcass fatness, increase forequarter development and result in downgrading of carcasses at slaughter.
- Oestrogenic treatment, even repeat treatment, does not modify carcass composition *per se*. Cattle attain mature carcass composition at higher mature liveweights. They may however be leaner at intermediate liveweights
- Repeated implantation, especially when use of one or more combination implants occurs, results in a reduction in eating quality. Treatment with only one, or perhaps, two

oestrogenic implants in the final years of finishing may have a lesser negative impact on eating quality.

The labels on most of the HGP products registered for use in Australia carry the recommendation that the product should not be used in breeding females. There are sound reasons for this advice for almost without exception HGP treatment of females is not associated with peak reproductive performance. Treatment with both oestrogenic and androgenic hormones delays the onset of puberty in heifers. Androgenic hormone treatment has been associated with increased abortion rates, decreased calving rates, and decreased birth weights.

The prime reason for implanting cattle with growth promoting hormones is to increase growth rate and feed conversion efficiency. In some production situations they can also be used positively to assist in achieving the carcass composition that the market requires. There are negative influences such as reduced eating quality, especially with combination implants of an androgen plus an oestrogen, modified animal behaviour, and a low incidence of unsightly side effects. When used for the purpose for which they are registered and in cattle suitable for their use, the net economic effect on the Australian beef industry is positive. In 2006/07 approximately seven % of Australia's beef production was directly attributable to the additional carcass weight from HGP use. In that year the national herd of 28 million cattle would have had to have been 30.3 million to produce the same quantity of beef without HGP use.

Acknowledgements

In the preparation of this review, all Australian companies that market hormonal growth promotants in cattle were contacted and invited to contribute information about their products and any other information relevant to the objectives of the investigation. I am indebted to Elanco Animal Health through Mr Jon Hunt and Virbac (Australia) through Mr Craige Allan and Dr Jane Parker for generously allowing me access to company resource material, some of it confidential. The confidential information does not appear in the review but was valuable as background information. I am also grateful to Professor David Pethick, Dr Ray Watson and Mr Rod Polkinghorne for providing draft papers on meat eating quality that at the time of writing the first draft were unpublished. Mr Cameron Dart and Professor David Pethick kindly met with me and provided an excellent briefing on the Meat Standards Australia Grading System.

Statement of Interest

The author spent part of his career in CSIRO conducting research on HGP use under northern Australian conditions. This research was funded by CSIRO, the Cooperative Research Centre for the Cattle and Beef Industries or jointly by CSIRO and MLA. Donations of implants for research purposes were accepted from commercial companies and consultancies, funded by companies, were undertaken by the author in his capacity as a CSIRO employee.

Endnotes

- ¹ Preston RL (1999). Hormone containing growth promoting implants in farmed livestock. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, **38**, 123-138.
- ² Animal Health Alliances Australia, 2006-07 audit.
- ³ Sergeant E (2007). HGP Literature Review, *MLA, Final Report*, ISBN No. 978174192265.
- ⁴ Davies BL (2008). Economic evaluation of hormonal growth promotants (HGPs), MLA, Final Report.
- ⁵ Rinehart, D, personal communication.
- ⁶ Raun AP, Cooley CP, Smith FA (1970). Comparative efficacy of the *trans* and *cis* isomers of DES in ruminants (Abstract). *Journal of Animal Science*, **31**, 252.
- ⁷ Preston RL, Klosterman EW, Cahill VR (1971). Levels and isomers of diethylstilbestrol for finishing steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **33**, 491-496.
- ⁸ Preston RL, Byers F, Stevens KR (1978). Estrogenic activity and growth stimulation in steers fed varying protein levels. *Journal of Animal Science*, **46**, 541-546.
- ⁹ Meyer HHD (2001). Biochemistry and physiology of anabolic hormones used for improvement of meat production. *Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica et Immunologica Scandinavica*, **109**, 1-8.
- ¹⁰ Hunter RA, Magner T, Berger KT (1998). Sustained growth promotion of steers, using anabolic steroids. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, **49**, 589-596.
- ¹¹ Hale DH, Oliver J (1973). The effect of intramuscular implantation and testosterone on growth and carcass characteristics of Zebu steers. *South African Journal of Animal Science*, **3**, 45-49.
- ¹² O'Kelly JC (1985). Testosterone, feed intake and growth rate in male cattle. *Nutrition Reports International*, **32**, 935-942.
- ¹³ Hunter RA, Magner T, Matthews ML. Novel strategies for treatment of steers with hormonal growth promotants in northern Australia: growth rate, carcass characteristics and meat quality. *Unpublished.*
- ¹⁴ Bouffault JC, Willemart JP (1983). Anabolic activity of trenbolone acetate alone or in association with estrogens. *Anabolics in Animal Production*. (Ed. E. Meissonnier) pp. 155-179. (Office International des Epoizooties, Levallois, France).
- ¹⁵ Galbraith H, Watson HB (1978). Performance, blood and carcase characteristics of finishing steers with trenbolone acetate and hexoestrol. *Veterinary Record*, **103**, 28-30.
- ¹⁶ Anon (2006), Implants An important tool for cattle feeders, <u>http://www.vigortone.com/06-20%20implants%2-(Dew).pdf</u> (accessed August 2007).
- ¹⁷ Lange IG, Daxenberger A, Meyer HHD (2001). Hormone contents in peripheral tissues after correct and off-label use of growth promoting hormones in cattle: Effect of the implant preparations Finiplix-H[®], Ralgro[®], Synovex-H[®] and Synovex Plus[®]. *Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica et Immunologica Scandinavica*, **109**, 53-65.
- ¹⁸ Heitzman RJ, Gibbons DN, Little W, Harrison LP (1981). A note on the comparative performance of beef steers implanted with anabolic steroids trenbolone acetate and estradiol 17-β, alone, or in combination. *Animal Production*, **32**, 219-222.
- ¹⁹ Hendricks DM, Edwards RL, Champe KA, Gettys TW, Skelley Jr. GC, Gimenenz T (1982). Trenbolone, estradiol-17β and estrone levels in plasma and tissues and liveweight gains of heifers implanted with trenbolone acetate. *Journal of Animal Science*, **55**, 1048-1056.
- ²⁰ Kraft LA, Szewczyk E, Stewart CW, Doherty M, Sinha AN, Simkins KL (2000). Depletion of trenbolone acetate and estradiol benzoate from a coated synovex plus long-acting implant in cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **78 (1)**, 28.
- ²¹ Blasi DA, Henricks DM, Drouillard JS, Kuhl GL, Spire MF (2000). Characterization of serum hormone profiles in growing heifers implanted with anabolic growth promotants. *Cattlemen's Day 2000*, Report of progress 850. Kansas State University, Agricultural Experiment Station and Co-operative Extension Service, **6609**, 80-83.

- ²² Brandt Jr. RT (1997). Factors affecting release rates and blood levels of hormones from steroidal implants. *Impact of implants on performance and carcass value of beef cattle*. (Ed. FM Owens) pp. 34-39. (Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, USA).
- ²³ Wagner JF, Basson RP, Carroll LH, Hudson JL, McAskill J, Nevin RS, Raun AP (1979). Factors affecting payout of estradiol-17β from a silicone rubber implant and effect on performance in finishing steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **49 (Supplement)**, 416.
- ²⁴ Preston RL, Herschler RC (1992). Controlled release estradiol/progesterone anabolic implant in cattle. *Texas Tech University Department of Animal and Food Science Research Report,* Lubbock, Texas, pp140-142.
- ²⁵ Wagner JF (1983). Estradiol controlled release implants: Efficacy and drug delivery. *Anabolics in Animal Production*. (Ed. E. Meissonnier) pp. 129-142. (Office International des Epoizooties, Levallois, France).
- ²⁶ Istasse I, Evrard P, Eenaeme M, Gielen M, Maghuin-Rogister G, Bienfait JM (1988). Trenbolone acetate in combination with 17β-oestradiol: Influence of implant supports and dose levels on animal performance and plasma metabolites. *Journal of Animal Science*, **66** 1212-1222.
- ²⁷ Heitzman RJ, Harwood DJ (1977). Residue levels of trenbolone and oestradiol-17β in plasma and tissues of steers implanted with anabolic steroid preparations. *British Veterinary Journal*, **133**, 564-571.
- ²⁸ Hunter RA, Magner T, Allingham PG (2000), Sustained growth promotion, carcass characteristics, and meat quality of steers treated with oestradiol-17β. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, **51**, 133-138.
- ²⁹ Lehman FD, Rains JR (1998). Implants: A valuable tool for the cattle feeding industry, mechanism, strategy and technique. *Cattleman's Update series of Department of Biotechnology*, University of Nevada. <u>http://www.cabnr.unr.edu/ab/extension/cattleman/cattleman98/Contents.htm</u> (accessed August 2007).
- ³⁰ Hunter RA (2000). Sustained growth promotion of pasture fed steers, MLA, Final Report, CS231, ISBN No. 1740366255.
- ³¹ Breier BH, Gluckman PD, Bass JJ (1988). Influence of nutritional status and oestradiol-17β on plasma growth hormone, insulin-growth factors- I and II and the response to exogenous growth hormone in young steers, *Journal of Endocrinology*, **118**, 243-250.
- ³² Sauerwein H, Meyer HHD, Schams D (1992). Divergent effects of oestrogens on the somatotropic axis in male and female calves. *Journal of Reproductive Development*, **38**, 271-278.
- ³³ White ME, Johnson BJ, Hathaway MR, Dayton WR (2003). Growth factor messenger RNA levels in muscle and liver of steroid-implanted and non-implanted steers. *Journal of Animal Science*. **81**, 965-972.
- ³⁴ Kamanga-Sollo E, Pampusch MS, Xi G, White ME, Hathaway MR, Dayton WR (2004). IGF-I mRNA levels in bovine satellite cell cultures: Effects of fusion and anabolic steroid treatment. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, **201**, 181-189.
- ³⁵ Powell SE, Aberle ED (1975). Cellular growth of skeletal muscle in swine differing in muscularity. *Journal of Animal Science*, **40**, 476-485.
- ³⁶ Harbison SA, Goll DE, Parrish FC, Wang V, Kline AE (1976). Muscle growth in two genetically different lines of swine. *Growth*, **40**, 253-283.
- ³⁷ Swatland DJ (1977). Accumulation of myofiber nuclei in pigs with normal and arrested development. *Journal of Animal Science*, **44**, 759-764.
- ³⁸ Trenkle A, DeWitt DL, Topel DG (1978). Influence of age, nutrition and genotype on carcass traits and cellular development of *M. longissimus* of cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **46**, 1597-1603.
- ³⁹ Johnson SE, Allen RE (1993). Proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) is expressed in activated rat skeletal muscle satellite cells. *Journal of Cell Physiology*, **154**, 39-43.
- ⁴⁰ Johnson SE, Allen RE (1995). Activation of skeletal muscle satellite cells and the role of fibroblast growth factor receptors. *Experimental Cell Research*, **219**, 449-453.
- ⁴¹ Meyer HHD, Rapp M (1985). Estrogen receptor in bovine skeletal muscle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **60**, 94-300.

- ⁴² Sauerwein H, Meyer HHD (1989). Androgen and estrogen receptors in bovine skeletal muscle: Relation to steroid-induced allometric muscle growth. *Journal of Animal Science*, **67**, 206-212.
- ⁴³ Bauer ERS, Daxenberger A, Petri T, Sawerwein H, Meyer HHD (2000). Characterisation of the affinity of different anabolics and synthetic hormones to the human androgen receptor, human sex hormome binding globulin and to the bovine gestagen receptor. *Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica et Immunologica Scandinavica*, **108**, 838-846.
- ⁴⁴ Vernon BJ, Buttery PJ (1978). The effect of trenbolone acetate with time on the various responses of protein synthesis of the rat. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **40**, 563-572.
- ⁴⁵ Sinnett-Smith PA, Dumelow NW, Buttery PJ (1983). The effects of trenbolone acetate and zeranol on protein metabolism in male castrate and female lambs. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **50**, 225-239.
- ⁴⁶ Martinez JA, Buttery PJ, Pearson JT (1984). The mode of action of anabolic agents, the effects of testosterone on growth rates and muscle protein metabolism in female rats. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **54**, 515-521.
- ⁴⁷ Schmidely P (1993). Quantitative review on the use of anabolic hormones with steroidal activity in ruminants reared for meat production. 2. Modes of action. *Reproduction Nutrition Development*, **33(4)**, 297-323.
- ⁴⁸ Mason GWJ, Rudder TH, Burrow HM (1984). Commercial use of growth promotants. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, **16**, 259-262.
- ⁴⁹ Hunter RA, Vercoe JE (1988). The effect of oestradiol-17β on energy metabolism of steers fed roughage diets. *Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge*, **111**, 187-190.
- ⁵⁰ Clarke MR, Wythes JR (1988). Effect of short and long-acting growth promotants on grazing beef cattle in south Queensland. *The Rangeland Journal*, **10(1)**, 30-33.
- ⁵¹ Burnham DL, Morris ST, Purchas RW, McCutcheon SN (1997). Effects of Compudose® and Rumensin® alone or in combination on the growth, and carcass and meat quality of steers finished on pasture. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*, **40**, 231-238.
- ⁵² Duckett SK, Wagner DG, Owens FN, Dolezal HG, Gill DR (1996). Effects of estrogenic and androgenic implants on performance, carcass traits and meat tenderness in feedlot steers. A review. *Professional Animal Scientist.* **12**, 205-214.
- ⁵³ Hunter RA, Burrow HM, McCrabb GJ (2001). Sustained growth promotion, carcass and meat quality of steers slaughtered at three liveweights. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, **41**, 1033-1040.
- ⁵⁴ Tudor GD, James T, Hunter RA (1992). Seasonal growth and carcass characteristics of grazing steers implanted with trenbolone acetate and oestradiol. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*. **32**, 683-687.
- ⁵⁵ Mader TL (1997). Carryover and lifetime effects of growth promoting implants. *Impact of implants on performance and carcass value of beef cattle.* (Ed. FM Owens *et al.*) pp. 88-94. (Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, USA).
- ⁵⁶ Duckett SK, Owens FN, Andrae JG (1997). Effects of implants on performance and carcass traits of feedlot steers and heifers, *Impact of implants on performance and carcass value of beef cattle*. (Ed. FM Owens) pp. 63-82. (Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, USA).
- ⁵⁷ Rumsey TS, Tyrrell H, Moe PW (1980). Effect of diethylstilbestrol and Synovex-S on fasting metabolism measurements of beef steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **50**, 160-168.
- ⁵⁸ Hunter RA, Johnson CG, Frisch JE (1993). Effect of trenbolone acetate alone and in combination with oestradiol-17β for reducing weight loss in cattle. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, **44**, 1113-22.
- ⁵⁹ Hunter RA, Magner T (1990). Whole body and tissue protein synthesis in steers losing weight on a lowprotein roughage diet: the effect of trenbolone acetate. *Journal of Agricultural Science Cambridge*, **115**, 121-127.
- ⁶⁰ Houston EM, Schlink AC, Hunter RA (1992). The effect of trenbolone acetate on the rates of liveweight loss and subsequent gain by steers grazing native pasture in northern Australia. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production.* **19**, 403.

- ⁶¹ Hunter RA, Vercoe JE (1987). Reduction of energy requirements of steers fed on low-quality roughage diets using trenbolone acetate. *British Journal of Nutrition*, **58**, 477-483.
- ⁶² Foot JZ, Tulloh NM (1977). Effects of two paths of liveweight change on the efficiency of feed use and on body composition in Angus steers. *Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge*, **88**, 135-142.
- ⁶³ Fisher AV, Wood JD, Whelehan OP (1986). The effects of a combined androgenic-oestrogenic anabolic agent in steers and bulls. 1. Growth and carcass composition, *Animal Production*, **42**, 203-211.
- ⁶⁴ Mader TL, Dahlquist JM, Sindt MH, Stock RA, Klopfenstein TJ (1994). Effect of sequential implanting with Synovex on steer and heifer performance. *Journal of Animal Science*, **72**, 1095-1100.
- ⁶⁵ Samber JA, Tatum JD, Wray MI, Nichols WT, Morgan JB, Smith GC (1996). Implant program effects on performance and carcass quality of steer calves finished for 212 days. *Journal of Animal Science*, **74**, 1470-1476.
- ⁶⁶ Henricks DM, Brandt RT, Titgemeyer EC, Milton CT (1997). Serum concentrations of trenbolone-17β and estradiol-17β and performance of heifers treated with trenbolone acetate, melengestrol acetate or oestradiol-17β. *Journal of Animal Science*. **75**, 2267-2633.
- ⁶⁷ Foutz CP, Dolezal HG, Gardner TL, Gill DR, Hensley JL, Morgan JB (1997). Anabolic implant effects on steer performance, carcass traits, subprimal yields and longissimus muscle properties. *Journal of Animal Science*, **75**, 1256-1265.
- ⁶⁸ Rumsey TS, Hammond AC, Elsasser TH (1999). Responses to an estrogenic growth promoter in beef steers fed varying nutritional regimens. *Journal of Animal Science*, **77**, 2865-2872.
- ⁶⁹ Hunter RA (1989). Effect of a pharmacological dose of testosterone on growth rate, feed intake and energy metabolism of steers gaining or losing weight on roughage diets. *Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge*, **112**, 257-263.
- ⁷⁰ Agricultural Research Council (1980). The nutrient requirements of ruminant livestock (Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux: Farnham Royal, UK).
- ⁷¹ Guiroy PJ, Tedeschi LO, Fox DG, Hutcheson JP (2002). The effects of implant strategy on finished body weight of beef cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **80**, 1791-1800.
- ⁷² Loy DD, Harpster HW, Cash EH (1988). Rate, composition and efficiency of growth in feedlot steers reimplanted with growth stimulants. *Journal of Animal Science*, **66**, 2668-2677.
- ⁷³ Perry TC, Fox DG, Beermann DH (1991). Effect of an implant of trenbolone acetate and estradiol on growth, feed efficiency and carcass composition of Holstein and beef steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **69**, 4696.
- ⁷⁴ Fox DG, Sniffen J, O'Connor JD, Russell JB, Van Soest PJ (1992). A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: III. Cattle requirements and diet adequacy. *Journal of Animal Science*, **70**, 3578-3596.
- ⁷⁵ Wood JD, Fisher AV, Whelehan OP (1986), The effects of a combined androgenic-oestrogenic anabolic agent in steers and bulls. 2. Muscle weight distribution, partition of body fat and carcass value, *Animal Production*, **42**, 213-222.
- ⁷⁶ Sawyer GJ, Morris RJ, Tudor GD (1996), Improved performance and saleable meat yield of euro and crossbred-sired grain-fed heifers treated with Revalor H, *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, **21**, 430.
- ⁷⁷ Turner HA, Phillips RL, Vavra M, Young DC (1981). The efficacy of an oestradiol-silicone rubber removable implant in suckling, growing and finishing steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **52**, 939.
- ⁷⁸ Bruns KW, Pritchard RH, Boggs DL (2005). The effect of stage of growth and implant exposure on performance and carcass composition in steers. *Journal of Animal Science*. **83**, 108-116.
- ⁷⁹ Sainz RD, De la Torre F, Oltjen JW (1995). Compensatory growth and carcass quality in growthrestricted and refed beef steers. *Journal of Animal Science*. **73**, 2971-2979.
- ⁸⁰ Bruns KW, Pritchard RH, Boggs DL (2004). The relationships among body weight, body composition, and intramuscular fat content in steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **82**, 1315-1322.

- ⁸¹ Kerth CR, Miller MF, Owen BL, Brophy BH, Ramsey CB (1995). Implant and biological type effects on beef carcass characteristics. *Meat Science*. **41**, 47-53.
- ⁸² Smith KR, Duckett SK, Azain MJ, Sonon Jr. RN, Pringle TD (2007). The effect of anabolic implants on intramuscular lipid deposition in finished beef cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **85**, 430-440.
- ⁸³ Duckett SK, Andrae JG (2001). Implant strategies in an integrated beef production system. *Journal of Animal Science*. **79(E. Supplement)**, 108-116.
- ⁸⁴ Tudor GD, Sawyer GJ, Moyle PW (1996). Revalor H and dietary effects on growth and fat development in grain-fed early or late maturing heifers. *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, **21**, 431.
- ⁸⁵ McPhee MJ, Oltjen JW, Famula TR, Sainz RD (2006). Meta-analysis of factors affecting carcass characteristics of feedlot steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **84**, 3143-3154.
- ⁸⁶ O'Neill CJ, McCrabb GJ, Hunter RA (2002). The influence of repeated treatment with a hormonal growth promotant on tenderness and intramuscular fat in tropical beef cattle. *Animal Production Australia*, **24**, 165-168.
- ⁸⁷ Platter WJ, Tatum JD, Belk KE, Scanga JA, Smith GC (2003). Effects of repetitive use of hormonal implants on beef carcass quality, tenderness, and consumer ratings of beef palatability. *Journal of Animal Science*, **81**, 984-996.
- ⁸⁸ Nichols WT, Galyean ML, Thomson DU, Hutcheson JP (2002). Effects of steroid implants on the tenderness of beef. *Professional Animal Scientist*, **18**, 202-210.
- ⁸⁹ Watson R (2008). Meta-analysis of the published effects of HGP use on beef palatability in steers as measured by objective and sensory testing. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, **48**,1425-1433.
- ⁹⁰ Thompson JM, McIntyre BM, Tudor GD, Pethick DW, Polkingthorne R, Watson R (2008). Effects of hormonal growth promotants (HGP) on growth, carcass characteristics, the palatability of different muscles in the beef carcass and their interaction with ageing . *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, **48**, 1405-1414.
- ⁹¹ Schneider BA, Tatum JD, Engle TE, Bryant TC (2007). Effects of heifer finishing implants on beef carcass traits and longissimus tenderness. *Journal of Animal Science*, **85**, 2019-2030.
- ⁹² Watson R, Polkingthorne R, Gee A, Porter M, Thompson JM, Ferguson D, Pethick D, McIntyre B (2008). Effect of hormonal growth promotants on palatability of various muscles from steer and heifer carcasses from a *Bos indicus/Bos taurus* composite cross. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, **48**, 1415-1424.
- ⁹³ Barham BL, Brooks JC, Blanton JR, Herring AD, Carr MA, Kerth CR, Miller MF (2003). Effects of growth implants on consumer perceptions of meat tenderness in beef steers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **81**, 3052-3056.
- ⁹⁴ Thompson JM, Polkingthorne R, Porter M, Burrow HM, Hunter RA, McCrabb GJ, Watson R (2008). Effect of repeated implants of oestradiol-17β on beef palatability in Brahman and Brahman cross steers finished to different market endpoints. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, **48**, 1434-1441.
- ⁹⁵ Reiling BA and Johnson DD (2003). Effects of implant regimens (trenbolone acetate-estradiol administered alone or in combination with zeranol) and vitamin D₃ on fresh beef colour and quality. *Journal of Animal Science*, **81**, 135-142.
- ⁹⁶ Smith G (2004). Growth promotants. *Presentation at an MLA Workshop, Brisbane, Australia.*
- ⁹⁷ Anon (2007). Meat Standards Australia. <u>https://www.msagrading.com.au</u> (accessed October 2007).
- ⁹⁸ Deutscher GH, Zerfoss LL, Clanton DC (1986). Time of zeranol implantation on growth, reproduction and calving of beef heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **62**, 875.
- ⁹⁹ Hargrove DD (1994). Use of growth promotants in replacement heifers in factors affecting calf crop. (Ed. J. Fields and R.S. Sands) pp. 91-104. (CRC Press, USA).
- ¹⁰⁰ Bolze RP, Corah LR (1988). Effects of a single zeranol implant on conception rates and dystocia in primiparous beef heifers. *Professional Animal Scientist*, **4**, 19.

- ¹⁰¹ Anthony RV, Kittok RJ, Ellington EF, Nielson MK (1981). Effects of zeranol on growth and ease of calf delivery in beef heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **53**, 1325.
- ¹⁰² Rutter LM, Day PA (1994). Effects of a growth implant and age of dam on growth and fertility in heifer calves. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, **74**, 203-208.
- ¹⁰³ Staigmiller RB, Bellows RA, Short RE (1983). Growth and reproductive traits in beef heifers implanted with zeranol. *Journal of Animal Science*, **57**, 527.
- ¹⁰⁴ Kniffen DM, Wagner WR, Lewis PE (1999). Effects of long-term estrogen implants in beef heifers. *Journal of Animal Science*, **77**, 2886-2892.
- ¹⁰⁵ Gropp J (1980). Influence of anabolic steroids on performance and side effects in veal calf nutrition. Steroids in Animal Production. Proceedings of International Symposium (Ed. H. Jasiorwski) pp. 23-31. (Warsaw Agricultural University, Warsaw, Poland).
- ¹⁰⁶ Burke JL, Morris ST, McCutcheon SN, Parker WJ (1998). Compudose: Its effect on the growth, offspring performance, lactational performance, and carcass characteristics of Hereford X Fresian heifers at pasture. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, **49**, 1167-1172.
- ¹⁰⁷ Sejrsen K (1984). Effect of anabolic steroids and growth hormone on mammary development in heifers. Manipulation of growth in farm animals. (Ed. Rochae JF, O'Callaghan D, Martinus Nijhoff) pp. 233-245. (Publishers for the Commission of the European Communities).
- ¹⁰⁸ Heitzman RJ, Harwood, DJ, Mallison, CB (1977). The effect of trenbolone acetate on liveweight changes and pregnancy rates in Zebu crossbred heifers grazing tropical pastures. *Acta. Endocrinological*, **85**, 259.
- ¹⁰⁹ Peters AR (1987). The effect of trenbolone acetate on ovarian function in culled dairy cows. *The Veterinary Record*, **120(17)**, 413-416.
- ¹¹⁰ Heitzman RJ, Harwood DJ, Kay RM, Little W, Mallinson CB, Reynolds IP (1979). Effects of implanting prepuberal dairy heifers with anabolic steroids on hormonal status, puberty and parturition, *Journal of Animal Science*, **49**, 859.
- ¹¹¹ Aldrich SL, Berger LL, Kesler DJ, Faulkner DB, Castree JW (1995). Synovex H as a prenatal androgenizing agent in beef cattle: Effects on the implanted pregnant heifer. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, **75**, 543-548.
- ¹¹² Hamernik DL, McFarland SY, deAvila D, Becker SR, Reeves JJ (1987). Endocrine and body growth traits in heifers exposed to testosterone-propionate during early fetal development. *Journal of Animal Science*, **64**, 1858-1866.
- ¹¹³ Mader TL, Lechtenberg KF (2000). Growth-promoting systems for heifer calves and yearlings finished in the feedlot *Journal of Animal Science*, **78**, 2485-2496.
- ¹¹⁴ Frisch JE, Hunter RA (1990). Influence of the growth promotant Synovex-H® on growth, resistance to parasites and reproduction of cattle heifers of three breeds. *Journal of Agricultural Science, Cambridge*, **114**, 107-113.
- ¹¹⁵ Lindsay JA, Mullins TJ, Toleman MA, Stephenson HP (1984). The effect of trenbolone acetate on liveweight changes and pregnancy rates in Zebu crossbred heifers grazing tropical pastures, *Animal Production in Australia*, **15**, 708.
- ¹¹⁶ Hunter RA, Magner T (1991). Growth and subsequent fertility of cows implanted during pregnancy with trenbolone acetate and oestradiol. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, **42**, 641-645.
- ¹¹⁷ Hunter RA, D'Occhio MJ (1995). Partition of nutrients and return to oestrus in lactating Bos indicus cows. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, **46**, 749-762.
- ¹¹⁸ Van der Wal P, Berende PLM, Sprietsma JE (1975). Effect of anabolic agents on performance of calves. *Journal of Animal Science*, **41**, 978-985.
- ¹¹⁹ Van der Wal P, Berende PLM (1983). Effects of anabolic agents on food producing animals. *Anabolics in Animal Production*. (Ed. E. Meissonnier) pp. 74-115. (Office International des Epoizooties, Levallois, France).

- ¹²⁰ Grandadam JA, Scheid JP, Jobard A, Dreux H, Boisson JM (1975). Results obtained with Trenbolone acetate in conjunction with estradiol-17β in veal calves, feedlot bulls, lambs and pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, **41**, 969-977.
- ¹²¹ Brown RG (1983). Zeranol implants. *Anabolics in Animal Production*. (Ed. E. Meissonnier) pp. 107-119. (Office International des Epoizooties, Levallois, France).
- ¹²² Unruh JA (1986). Effects of endogenous and exogenous growth-promoting compounds on carcass composition, meat quality and meat nutritional value. *Journal of Animal Science*, **62**, 1441-1448.
- ¹²³ Greathouse JR, Hunt MC, Dikeman ME, Corah LR, Kastner CL, Kropf DH (1983). Ralgro-implanted bulls: performance, carcass characteristics, longissimus palatability and carcass electrical stimulation. *Journal of Animal Science*, **57**, 355.
- ¹²⁴ Gregory KE, Ford JJ (1983). Effects of late castration, zeranol and breed group on growth, feed efficiency and carcass characteristics of late maturing bovine males. *Journal of Animal Science*, **56**, 771-780.
- ¹²⁵ Johnson DD, Savell JW, Smith GC, Gill DR, Williams DE, Walters LE, Martin JJ (1984). Relationship of growth stimulants and breed groups on carcass characteristics and palatability of young bulls. *Journal of Animal Science*, **58**, 920.
- ¹²⁶ Unruh JA (1984). Effects of zeranol implantation and slaughter age on performance, behaviour, masculinity, collagen solubility and meat sensory traits of young bulls fed for slaughter. Ph,D. Dissertation. *Kansas State University, Manhattan.*
- ¹²⁷ Gray DG, Unruh JA, Dikeman ME, Stevenson JS (1986). Implanting young bulls with zeranol from birth to four slaughter ages: III Growth performance and endocrine aspects. *Journal of Animal Science*, **63**, 747-756.
- ¹²⁸ Galbraith H (1982). Growth, hormonal and metabolic response of postpubertal entire male cattle to trenbolone acetate and hexoestrol. *Animal Production*, **35**, 269.
- ¹²⁹ O'Lamhna M, Roche JF (1984). Recent studies with anabolic agents in steers and bulls. *Manipulation of growth in farm animals*, (Ed. J.F. Roche and D O'Callaghan), pp 85-99. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, The Hague.
- ¹³⁰ Lee CY, Henricks DM, Skelley GC, Grimes LW (1990). Growth and hormonal response of intact and castrate male cattle to trenbolone acetate and estradiol. *Journal of Animal Science*, **68**, 2682-2689.
- ¹³¹ Hunt DW, Henricks DM, Skelley GC, Grimes LW (1991). Use of trenbolone acetate and estradiol in intact and castrate male cattle: effects on growth, serum hormones, and carcass characteristics. *Journal of Animal Science*, **69**, 2452-2462.
- ¹³² Seideman SC, Cross HR, Oltjen RR, Schanbacher BD (1982). Utilization of the intact male for red meat production: A review. *Journal of Animal Science*, **55**, 826-840.
- ¹³³ Glimp HA, Dikeman ME, Tuma HJ, Gregory KE, Cundiff LV (1971). Effect of sex condition on growth and carcass traits of male Hereford and Angus cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*, **33**, 1242-1247.
- ¹³⁴ ZoBell D, Chapman CK, Heaton K (2000). Beef Cattle Implants. Utah State University Extension. http://www.thecattlesite.com/articles/744/beef-cattle-implants (accessed 15-9-07).
- ¹³⁵ Zimbelman RG, Lauderdale JW, Sokolowski JH, Schalk TG (1970). Safety and pharmacologic evaluations of melengestrol acetate in cattle and other animals. *Journal of the Amercian Veterinary Medical Association*, **157**, 1528-1538.
- ¹³⁶ Adams TE, Dunbar JR, Berry SL, Garrett WN, Famula TR, Lee YB (1990). Feedlot performance of beef heifers implanted with Synovex-H: Effect of melengestrol acetate, ovariectomy or active immunization against GnRH. *Journal of Animal Science*, **68**, 3079-3085.
- ¹³⁷ Popp JD, McAllister TA, Burgevitz WK, Kemp RA, Kastelic JP, Cheng K-J (1997). Effect of trenbolone acetate/estradiol implants and estrus suppression on growth performance and carcass characteristics of beef heifers. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, **77**, 325-328.
- ¹³⁸ Scanga JA, Belk KE, Tatum JD, Grandin T, Smith GC (2007). Managing dark cutters in the feedlot. <u>http://www.gpvec.uni.edu/files/feedlot/Griff-PMCD/GriffinPMfiles/scanga4.pdf</u>

(accessed 11/09/07).

- ¹³⁹ Price MA, Tennessen T (1981). Pre-slaughter management and dark-cutting in the carcasses of young bulls. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, **61**, 205.
- ¹⁴⁰ Tarrant P (1989). Animal behaviour and environment in the dark-cutting condition in beef: A review. *Irish Journal of Food Science and Technology*, **13**, 1.
- ¹⁴¹ Sullivan KF (1994). Prolapses. Proceedings of the ALFA/Elanco Feedlot Veterinarian Workshop, 55-57.
- ¹⁴² Anon (1986). Hightail A real problem for growth promotants? *Coopers Veterinary Despatch*, 1721.
- ¹⁴³ Edwards TA (1995). Buller syndrome: What's behind this abnormal sexual behaviour? *Large Animal Veterinarian*, **50**, 6.
- ¹⁴⁴ Irwin MR, Melendy DR, Amoss MS, Hutcheson (1979). Roles of predisposing factors and gonadal hormones in the buller syndrome of feedlot steers. *Journal of American Veterinary Medical Association*. **174**, 367.
- ¹⁴⁵ Blackshaw JK, Blackshaw AW, McGlone JJ (1997). Buller steer syndrome review. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, **54**, 97-108.
- ¹⁴⁶ Voyles BL, Brown MS, Swingle RS, Karr (2004). Caste Study: Effects of implant programs on buller incidence, feedlot performance and carcass characteristics of yearling steers. *The Professional Animal Scientist*, **20**, 344-352.
- ¹⁴⁷ Taylor LF, Booker CW, Jim GK, Gutcheon PT (1997). Epidemiology investigation of the buller steer syndrome (riding behaviour) in a western Canadian feedlot. *Australian Veterinary Journal*, **75**, 45.
- ¹⁴⁸ Turgeon A, Koers W (1997). Effects of pen size on the implant response of feedlot cattle. Symposium: *Impact of implants on performance and carcass value of beef cattle.* (Ed. FM Owens) pp. 957:105. (Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, USA).